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2008 REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS
New Britain Palm Oil Limited (NBPOL) is Papua New
Guinea’s largest oil palm plantation and milling operation.
NBPOL has continued to consolidate its position in the
region by expanding its core activities of palm oil production.
NBPOL continues to pursue its objectives of enhancing
shareholder value.
It also places high value on its social obligations to the
community by seeking to achieve the highest standards
of environmental management and by working in sensitive
co-operation with all sectors.

2

CONTENTS
Corporate Directory

4

Shareholding Statistics

5

Chairman’s Message
Five Year Summary of Growth

6- 7
8

Business Review

9 - 24

Report of the Directors

25 - 26

Corporate Governance

27 - 28

Independent Audit Report

29

Income Statement

30

Balance Sheet

31

Statement of Changes in Equity

32

Statement of Cash Flows

33 - 34

Notes to the Financial Statements

35 - 64

3

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

DIRECTORS
(As at 31st December 2008)

Hj Ahamad Mohamad,
Non Executive Chairman

A.M. De Castro,
Non Executive Chairman Elect

N.M. Thompson,
Chief Executive Officer

D.L.M. Dann,
Finance Director

Tan Sri’ Dr Arshad Ayub,
Non Executive Director

Mrs. Winifred Kamit,
Non Executive Director

A.J. Chaytor,
Executive Director

M.A. St Clair George,
Non Executive Director

SECRETARY
Himson Waninara
COUNTRY
OF INCORPORATION
Papua New Guinea
REGISTERED OFFICE AND
ADDRESS FOR SERVICE
c/- Bebere Plantation
Mosa
KIMBE
West New Britain Province
Papua New Guinea
Telephone 985 2177

4

SHARE REGISTRY

AUDITORS

SOLICITORS

PNG Registries Limited
Level 2, Aon House
Macgregor Street
PORT MORESBY
Papua New Guinea
Telephone 321 6377

PriceWaterhouseCoopers
Level 6, Credit House
Cuthbertson Street
PORT MORESBY
Papua New Guinea

Blake Dawson Waldron Lawyers
Gadens Lawyers
Sol-Law (Solomon Islands)
Travers Smith (UK)

Capita Registrars
The Registry
34, Beckenham Road
BECKENHAM
Kent
England
Telephone 020 8639 2488

BANKERS
ANZ Banking Group
Bank of South Pacific
Westpac Bank
NOMINATED ADVISOR
& ANALYST
Singer Capital Markets Ltd (UK)

STOCK EXCHANGE
Port Moresby Stock Exchange
London Stock Exchange

SHAREHOLDING STATISTICs
The twenty largest shareholders in New
Britain Palm Oil Limited currently hold
approximately 89.35% of the paid up
capital of the Company. There are 145
million ordinary shares in issue.

Rank	Investor	

Current Balance

% Issued Capital

1

Kulim Malaysia Berhad

73,482,619

50.68

2

West New Britain Provincial Government

12,000,000

8.28

6,699,000

4.62

5,660,351

3.90

3	Alan James Chaytor
4

BlackRock Investment Management

5

National Superannuation Fund

5,104,274

3.52

6

Wellington Management

4,068,128

2.81

2,265,000

1.56

7	AXA Framlington Investment Managers
8

Standard Life Investments

2,147,122

1.48

9

PNG Sustainable Development Ltd

2,120,000

1.46

2,063,200

1.42

1,981,558

1.37

10	Artemis Investment Management
11

Montpelier Asset Management

12

Threadneedle Investments

1,907,904

1.32

13

HSBC James Capel as Principal

1,781,218

1.23

14

Clearstream

1,412,939

0.97

1,364,986

0.94

15	Invesco Perpetual
16	Independent Public Business Corporation

1,349,682

0.93

17

Petercam Asset Management

1,162,500

0.80

18

JPMorgan Asset Management

1,036,156

0.71

19

Fortelus Capital Management

1,000,000

0.69

20

New City Investment Managers

955,000

0.66

129,561,637

89.35

		

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES		
The distribution of shareholders at that date was:				
Range of Holdings	

Number of Holders	

1 - 1,000

934

1,001 - 5,000

113

5,001 - 10,000

37

10,000 -100,000

93

100,000 and Over

80

		

1,257

MARKETABLE PARCELS		
All parcels held by shareholders are marketable parcels.		
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Chairman’s Message

INTRODUCTION
This marks the last year of my involvement
with New Britain Palm Oil Ltd as Chairman
as I intend to step down in February 2009 and
handover the chairmanship to Antonio Monteiro de Castro. I would like to place on record
my gratitude for the effort of all involved with
the company during my tenure as Chairman
and I have no doubt that the incoming Chairman will receive
exactly the same support.
2008 was a year that saw record palm oil prices, followed by an
unprecedented fall in prices not only in the vegetable oil sector
but across virtually all commodities. From the euphoria of the
commodity boom and record high stock prices the world’s economies now face, in stark contrast, the most challenging of times.
Despite this turmoil our focus as a group continues to evolve with
our objective of being a key “food ingredient’ producer linked to
European consumers through a competitively priced sustainable
and traceable supply chain. The basic building blocks for this
strategy are in place and we continue to increase our production capacity and invest in the supply chain to deliver growth
and profitability. We believe that food manufacturers and in turn
consumers want confidence over the quality, source and methods
of growing and manufacture of their food ingredients. The key
drivers for success in our model are a supply base that is robust
both in quality and quantity and a supply chain that is as direct as
possible and hence competitive.
In 2008 we announced several initiatives that are all linked into
achieving our objective of becoming a key “food ingredient’ producer, through a competitively priced sustainable and traceable
supply chain. First there was the certification of NBPOL’s production and management system as being compliant with the principles and criteria for sustainable palm oil production, as set out
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by the Round Table on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO). Second was
the announcement of our decision to invest 17 million pounds
in a refinery based in the United Kingdom. Thirdly the company
announced the successful acquisition of Ramu Agri-Industries
Limited (RAIL) in Papua New Guinea adding a further 33,000
hectares to our land bank and extra oil palm production capacity
as well as sugar cane and beef cattle operations.
The Company is set to make its biggest strategic shift for 40 years
and the investment decision to build a refinery in Liverpool fills
the last gap in a continuous supply chain. This chain starts with
our plant breeding program and the production of high yielding
oil palm trees and is followed by a production and milling operation that is certified as sustainable to finally a traceable storage
and transport supply chain. This will be a robust supply chain
uniquely positioned to provide European consumers with sustainable palm oil products. Following our announcement on the 4th
August I am very pleased to now report that we have made substantial progress with an agreement signed for a 25 year lease of a
site with Peel Ports in Liverpool and that planning permission has
also been granted for the construction of the refinery. Agreement
has also been reached with Peel Ports for vessel & goods charges
associated with shipping palm oil into the port of Liverpool. We
now have access to the site and ground preparation started in
January 2009 with a principle contractor appointed for the project
and orders for equipment are well advanced.
Results
Financially the group’s headline pre tax profit of USD111 million
excluding Ramu Agri Industries Ltd (RAIL) and excluding the
effects of biological assets revaluations, was founded on a year
of record oil production and palm oil prices. Having said that
the profit would have been substantially higher was it not for the
foreign exchange losses that have been accounted for. The Board

“our focus as a group continues to

evolve with our objective of being
a key ‘food ingredient’ producer
linked to European consumers”

took the conservative view that the investment in the UK refinery
would be backed by a deposit in pounds sterling. However the
fall in sterling has lead to foreign exchange losses some of which
are unrealised and the board is actively looking at minimising any
future foreign exchange exposure.
The balance sheet of the company remains largely unleveraged,
the acquisition of Ramu Agri-Industries Ltd was funded from our
cash resources and post acquisition our debt levels have risen
to 58 million dollars as a result of the debt on the RAIL balance
sheet. As a group our debt levels are very low and allow us to
continue to look for strategic acquisitions.
Looking forward we start 2009 in a very strong position as our
forward sales strategy has placed us ahead of the curve. At the
time of writing we are continuing to make sales at good margins
into 2009 and most recently into 2010. We are also excited by
recent negotiations with buyers for the supply of sustainable
palm oil. In addition it is pleasing to see the easing of input costs,
notably diesel, fertilisers and agrochemicals that will help restore
our margins.
Acquisition of Ramu Agri-Industries Limited
We present in the business review details of the acquisition and
I do not intend to repeat these here. The acquisition of RAIL was
more protracted than we envisaged but the finalisation of the
deal in September was an important strategic step for the group.
RAIL has huge potential and with the management expertise that
the group possess we are confident that over the next few years
RAIL will become a substantial production base for the group.
Importantly it gives the group a base from which to also explore
further opportunities in the Ramu and Markham valleys as well
as providing an additional land bank that is not likely to raise any
significant issues from high conservation value forest assessments.

The main constraint to palm oil yields at Ramu will undoubtedly
be linked to seasonal water stress and management have already
instigated work to assess irrigation technologies. We will review
the future of the sugar enterprise at Ramu on its own merits and
equally we will focus on intensifying the beef cattle operation at
Ramu and hopefully transfer technology from our existing oil and
beef intercropping experience in New Britain.
Sustainability
The group has continued to be a leading light amongst the
palm oil producers in its drive towards sustainable production
practices. We have been heavily involved in the Roundtable on
Sustainable Palm Oil. As we stand this is the only body that has
a standard for certifying sustainable palm oil and whilst there are
many detractors of this organisation and understandable frustration at the slow pace of change it is at the moment the only
group to have made any significant progress towards improving
production practices. The Board and management are committed
to the roll out of RSPO and ISO 14001 certification to all of our
production sites
Finally, I would like to thank all of our employees for their continued hard work and continued dedication; it is very much appreciated by the Board.

Chairman
Hj. Ahamad Mohamad
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Five year summary of growth
(All Amounts in USD ‘000s)

Financial Performance year end 31 December
2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

352,219

224,954

133,764

114,997

124,654

Profit from Ordinary Activities

23,046

119,545

67,516

26,563

30,091

Profit After Tax

22,200

86,973

47,820

19,079

21,212

126,633

63,379

23,301

36,386

35,095

Average CPO price

926

780

469

442

471

Average PKO price

1,235

895

605

656

654

Revenue

Cashflow from Operating Activities

At year end					
Share Capital

124,879

124,879

9,440

9,440

9,440

Shareholders Equity

266,314

242,380

176,756

137,558

132,487

Working Capital

127,440

134,620

24,719

22,153

36,121

Total Assets

603,915

529,058

285,524

203,734

201,687

General Statisti cs						
Earnings per share (US Cents)

14.70

60.00

39.10

15.90

17.70

Dividends per share (US Cents)

41.80

20.00

3.00

13.00

4.00

Dividend Cover (times)

0.35

3.00

13.03

1.22

4.43

Net Asset Backing per share

2.73

2.55

1.62

1.24

1.18

Production Volumes (Tonnes)						
FFB from Own Plantations

874,443

838,002

717,429

628,572

614,960

FFB from Outgrowers

392,883

378,117

337,100

323,211

288,878

1,267,326

1,216,119

1,054,529

951,783

903,838

Total FFB processed

Primary Products						
Crude Palm Oil Produced (CPO)
Palm Kernels Produced (PK)

293,912

274,489

235,099

213,189

203,612

65,572

66,747

59,386

54,769

52,834

15
4
4
12
8 		
Oil Palm Seeds (million sold)
						
Own Mature Oil Palm (hectares Dec.)
Palm Products Yield (MT of CPO+PK per ha)

38,117

33,532

28,016

26,321

25,501

6.6

7.1

7.1

6.7

7.0

Secondary Products						
PK Processed into:						
25,571

23,789

21,090

21,527

32,871
35,219
Palm Kernel Expeller (PKE)
			

33,946

28,322

27,917 		

CPO Refined

71,238

77,584

74,492

82,427

91,863

Refined Palm Oil Produced (RPO)

67,326

73,412

70,858

78,086

87,873

Palm Kernel Oil (PKO)

25,963

3,284
3,397
3,238
3,531
Fatty Acid Distillate (PFAD) Produced
					

3,949 		

RPO Fractionated into:						
Palm Olein (RPL)

24,165

27,104

29,030

40,309

46,582

Palm Superolein (RPSL)

14,679

14,897

13,027

11,349

6,367

Palm Stearin (RPS)

13,501

11,540

11,178

15,228

17,715
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BUSINESS REVIEW

BuSiness
Review

This review has been prepared for the group as a
whole and gives emphasis to significant matters and
events that have impacted on the company and its
subsidiaries, and the economic and geographic centres
in which they operate. The review is presented with
the following sections: an introduction, the acquisition
of Ramu Agri-Industries, an overview of the palm
oil market, commentary on our financial results; an
operations overview and future plans and finally an
overview of our sustainability progress and initiatives.

9

BUSINESS REVIEW

“RAIL has properties on state leases

that extend to some 33,000 hectares.
In addition RAIL holds shorter term
leases for a further 7,000 hectares”

The review contains forward looking statements which have been
included by the directors in good faith based on the information
available to them at the time of their approval of this review. Such
statements should be treated with due caution due to the uncertainties, including both economic and business risks, inherent in
any forecast.
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The Papua New Guinea (PNG) Economy
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The business review for 2008 details the group’s overall progress.
We present details on the three main palm oil operating centres,
namely the parent company NBPOL in West New Britain, its
100% subsidiary RAIL (new acquisition) situated in the Markham
and Ramu valleys and finally the 80% owned subsidiary GPPOL
located in the Guadalcanal Plains in the Solomon Islands.

Headline Inflation

“crude palm oil and palm

BUSINESS REVIEW

kernel oil made up 15%
of the total export of the
exports for Solomon Island”

Despite liquidity concerns and easing monetary policy globally,
the Bank of Papua New Guinea raised interest rates to 8% in early
December 2008. The continued relative stability of the kina (versus
USD ), moderate inflation, low official interest rates, competitive
lending rates, a reasonable budgetary outcome and new private
sector investment provides a good platform for the 1st half of 2009.
The short-term outlook for the economy is stable whilst commodity
prices (gold, oil, nickel, palm oil, and cocoa) remain at current levels, the kina is stable and international reserves remain at high levels.

Inflation rates stood at 9.7% and 16.4% in the first two quarters of
2008; however this moved up to 23.5% in September. The sharp
increase was then followed by a small drop at the end of the year
due to the lowering of fuel prices. Looking forward into 2009,
strong domestic credit and loose fiscal policy will ensure that
inflation will remain high, probably in the high teens.

Solomon Islands Economy

Background

2008 has seen a more politically stable Solomon Islands. The
growth in the economy has been steady with increased exports.
Cocoa, copra and palm oil have all shown increases in production throughout 2008, however the full potential of the agricultural sector is yet to be realised. Logging is still providing over 50%
of the total exports and the pressure to create export diversification is now very evident. Logging activity and exports will subside
due to unsustainable harvesting and the fall in global demand.
The Government remains hopeful that the addition of new mining
projects may fuel economic growth and boost revenue.

NBPOL launched a takeover for RAIL on the 16th May 2008, at
the time of the takeover offer RAIL was a company listed on the
Port Moresby stock exchange with its core activities being the
production of sugar, palm oil and beef.

In terms of rural development GPPOL is still the striking success
story over recent years due to its contribution to exports and employment. In 2008 crude palm oil and palm kernel oil made up
15% of the total exports for the Solomon Islands.
The Regional Aid Mission to the Solomon Islands (RAMSI) is
expected to remain for some time, focusing on the three main
criteria of, law and order, economic reform and strengthening
government machinery.

The Acquisition of Ramu
Agri-Industries Limited (RAIL)

RAIL has properties on state leases that extend to some 33,000
hectares. In addition RAIL holds shorter term leases for a further
7,000 hectares. RAIL’s operations are located in the Ramu and
Markham valleys of Papua New Guinea and the company is the
country’s sole producer of sugar. At the time of the takeover RAIL
had 8,193 hectares under sugar cane cultivation. Over the past
10 years sugar sales in Papua New Guinea have ranged between
32-38,000 tonnes per annum with sugar exports (RAIL has a US
quota) typically between 7-10,000 tonnes per annum. Sugar imports into PNG are currently subject to a 70% import duty tariff,
although the tariff is expected to be reduced to 40% in 2011.
In comparison to leading world sugar producers where sugar
yields are approximately 10 tonnes per hectare, RAIL has averaged only 5.8 tonnes of sugar per hectare over the last 27 years.
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Sugar and cane yields over the past 10 years are presented in the
graph below:
RAIL HISTORICAL CANE SUGAR YIELDS
Sugar Per Hectare
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The potential of RAIL’s palm oil production was considered by the
NBPOL Directors. A takeover notice was subsequently launched
on the 16th May 2008 for RAIL on the basis that the offer and the
subsequent investment in RAIL could be funded; both in the short
and long-term and that management resources were available to
improve efficiency and productivity of all of RAIL’s enterprises.
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The company had been unable to significantly improve or maintain sugar yields due to an array of factors including significant
losses to endemic pests and diseases and inadequacies in the
management of the sugar. Booker Tate were terminated as the
technical managers of the sugar business in August 2003 and
following a decline in sugar yields and field conditions were
subsequently re-employed to manage the sugar operation in
November 2006. Booker Tate started a sugar “recovery program”
in March 2007.
In 2004 with the looming reduction in sugar protection and the
associated loss of profitability in the sugar enterprise, RAIL started
to diversify from its traditional core enterprises of sugar and beef.
Over the following four years 5,333 hectares of pastures, that
had been used for the raising and fattening of beef cattle, were
planted with oil palms. No land that was used for sugar cane cultivation was converted to oil palm. In 2008 RAIL commissioned
its new palm oil mill and commenced export of crude palm oil
and palm kernels.
Whilst oil palm yields in the Ramu and Markham valleys were
not expected to be as high as those achieved by NBPOL, due to
the drier climatic conditions, early expectations were that they
should be capable of averaging 20-22 tonnes of fruit bunches per
hectare. In comparison oil extraction rates at the oil mill were expected to be good as a result of the drier conditions and higher sunshine hours. The net effect was that oil yields were expected to be as
good if not better than many competitors in Malaysia and Indonesia.
RAIL also has an extensive beef operation with a herd of 14,000
head grazing over 11,000 hectares, of which only 900 hectares
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are improved pasture. RAIL’s beef operation has historically struggled to make a profit, productivity of the herd was poor and the
management of the beef enterprise had been inconsistent. The
operation was also starved of capital as most financial resources
were dedicated to the oil palm diversification exercise.

RAIL post acquisition
Control and management of RAIL was effectively vested with
NBPOL on the 15th September 2008 when the existing RAIL Directors resigned. Immediate steps were taken to start the review of
RAIL’s assets, systems and management structure and to strengthen its management team. The RAIL CEO retired in December
2008 and was replaced by a General Manager. Immediate steps
have been taken to invest in the oil palm sector and the planting
program for 2009 has been expanded to 2,750 hectares. Investigations have been started to evaluate irrigation for oil palms in
various climatic zones and soil types. Work will start on investigating whether local landowners have an interest in a lease:
lease-back system of land (similar to that operated in New Britain)
that could possibly mobilise further land suitable for oil palm. At
the same time more resources will be dedicated to direct conflict
resolution with local landowners in an attempt to resolve land
ownership issues that have for several years disrupted the sugar
cane out-grower scheme. If the out-grower cane areas could be
brought back into production this would immediately release a
considerable amount of land suitable for oil palm cultivation.
The sugar recovery program will be monitored very closely as the
future of the sugar enterprise at RAIL is dependent on sugar profitability being supported by yields being markedly increased; both
through better cane yields per hectare and better sugar content of
the cane delivered to the mill. Unless sugar yields achieve at least
8 tonnes per hectare then the long-term future of sugar, without
tariff protection, would be questionable.
The beef enterprise at RAIL has potential but requires considerable investment in the genetics of the herd, the pastures on which
it is based and the management of the cattle. The herd is currently
too biased towards poor Bos Indicus types and has little selection pressure for fertility and carcass type. The operation is too
extensive in its approach and efforts will be made starting in 2009
to intensify the breeding herd. The recent introduction of a feedlot
has transformed the quality of the beef and allowed animals to
reach commercial carcass weights, an element that was previously overlooked. Much further improvement is required to bring the
beef enterprise to a state of consistent profitability and techniques
of intercropping beef and oil palm, as done in West New Britain,
will be tested in RAIL.
In December 2008 RAIL terminated its interests in cashew
nut production.

BUSINESS REVIEW

“In 2008 the Group sold

15 million seeds, up
from 4 million in 2007”

Palm Oil Market Review & Outlook
2008 was one of the most volatile periods for the prices of
agricultural commodities, including palm oil. Commodity price
movements clearly illustrated the interdependency between
various natural resources such as energy, petroleum, oils and oil
seeds, metals and currencies. The growing competition for natural
resources between food or fuel use intensified. Energy prices led
the commodity sector higher during the first half of the year and
brought prices down during the second half, as sentiment and
performance were mirrored across the markets.
The year began as prices of all commodities, including palm oil,
traded at historically high levels. Over the preceding decades
vegetable oils were traditionally identified with food use, however in 2008 we witnessed more diverse applications of oils and
fats in both food and non-food sectors.
Vegetable oil prices appreciated sharply during the early part of
2008 as the price rally continued from 2007, driven on by the
increasing price of energy, the need for increased world production of oils, oilseeds and the use of grains and vegetable oils for
bio-fuels. The oils and oil seeds complex also attracted wider
investor participation, to hedge against the declining value of the

US dollar, rising inflation and a refuge from nervous equity markets. Food-price inflation was rampant and in an effort to secure
supplies certain producing nations increased export taxes and
some importing nations reduced import taxes, a first in the global
trade of vegetable oils. The palm oil industry, being a major and
influential component in the global production and consumption
of oils and fats benefited immensely from the favourable outlook,
as it received global recognition of its price competitiveness and
of being a consistent source of supply. Crude palm oil prices
peaked in the first quarter of the year at just over USD 1400 per
metric tonne (CIF Rotterdam). By the middle of the year factors
which had driven prices higher had been mitigated. High prices
became unsustainable as fears of a world recession came to the
fore and demand destruction began.
During the January to July period, cumulative Malaysian crude palm
oil production increased by a staggering 21.5% or 1.72 million
tonnes to 9.76 million tonnes. A surge in crude palm oil production,
coupled with demand rationing and a sharp correction in other commodities brought downward pressure in palm oil prices. The price
of crude palm oil (CIF Rotterdam) reached a low for the year of USD
447.50 per metric tonne in October, since when it appreciated to
USD 500 per tonne towards the end of December.
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from the peak, the forward sales made by the company are invaluable. We view the strategy as essential for our sustained growth.
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Group Sales
The group has continued to invest its marketing resources in the
European Union. The European market and its resident oil refiners
and food producers afford the company both “quality and value”
towards building a sustainable supply chain. The company’s marketing strategy has been aligned along the following principles:
1) Develop a strategic alliance with various buyers and position
the company as a consistent and dependable supply source.
2) Become a key supply partner in the “origin to consumption” value
chain, through sustainable cultivation practices, dedicated logistics services, and a transparent and traceable supply chain.
3) Investment in offshore processing as the company’s first offshore vegetable oil refinery in the UK.
In the year in review crude palm oil prices achieved by the group
averaged USD 926 per tonne (CIF Rotterdam) compared USD 780
in 2007.
For 2009, we expect price volatility to be relatively subdued and
crude palm oil prices to trade in a range between USD 500 to USD
650 per tonne (CIF Rotterdam). Demand for vegetable oils is expected to contract, although lower prices may prevent a sharp drop in
consumption. As we go through 2009, the global economic climate
will be the single most important fundamental. The severe downturn in the global economy is likely to counterbalance any possible
supply shortage, but as we progress through the crop seasons it is
possible that adverse weather in the producing regions of the world
could possibly bring increased price volatility to the markets.
Price Strategy & Risk Management
The company’s price and risk management policy remains one
of forward pricing at levels that fix good operating profits, but
usually no more than 50% of our projected production is sold forward and never more than 70%. The company during the year in
review initiated forward sales of 27% of its 2009 production, to key
industry players in the EU. In a market, which has corrected sharply
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Financial overview
The company had a record year with revenue growing 56.6% in
2008 to USD 352.2 million and our profit before tax, excluding
the effect of the RAIL acquisition, rising to USD 111.0 million or
USD 106.3 million inclusive of RAIL but excluding gains arising
from the revaluation of biological assets (BA.) This result is due to
the high commodity prices particularly in the first half of the year
and record oil production. The revaluation of biological assets
under accounting standard IAS41 has had a marked negative effect on the results but is not in any way related to trading performance. The revaluation of our palm trees is estimated through
a discounted cash flow calculation based on the economic life
of the palms, and assumptions on yield, palm oil prices and the
weighted cost of capital through that period. Movements in palm
oil prices therefore have a huge impact on the value of these biological assets and movements in value are taken up in our profit
and loss statement thereby either grossly over or under stating the
profit of the company in that period. During the year the Group
also incurred foreign exchange losses as a result of holding deposits in British pounds, essentially to cover the Liverpool refinery
build costs and due to the continued appreciation of the Kina.
These losses amounted to USD 15.3 million.
Earnings per share increased from 40.6 cents in 2007 to 51.7
cents excluding the effects of gains from biological assets. The
Group is in a strong financial position with cash holdings at the
end of 2008 of USD 64.6 million with a further USD 62.5 million
in debtors, most of which is for oil sales and has subsequently
been received, while borrowings have increased from USD 19.7
million in 2007 to USD 58.4 million, primarily as a consequence
of the acquisition of RAIL’s debt. In 2008 three dividends were
paid, totalling 41.8 US cents the last of which, an interim dividend for 2008, of 14 US cents was paid in October. A final dividend for 2009 of 14 US cents per share will be paid in May 2009.
In 2008 the kina continued its appreciation against the US dollar
and this has again had a negative impact as our income statement
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“The beef enterprise at

RAIL has potential but
requires considerable
investment in the
genetics of the herd”

is translated from kina to US dollars using the average rate. The
2008 average rate was 37.66 cents against 33.96 cents the previous year. However in the last two months of 2008 the Kina started
to slip against the US dollar and this has continued into 2009 as
reduced inflows of commodity exports have reduced the flow of
dollars into the country.
Late in 2008, freight rates which had been very high started to
fall for the first time in recent years as fuel bunker surcharges fell
with the dropping mineral oil price, this has continued into 2009.
Similarly, fuel costs for the first three quarters of 2008 continued
to have a negative impact on the cost of transportation and milling of fruit. High commodity prices during 2008 impacted on
fertiliser costs for the year and this had an effect on our profit. The
fertiliser was contracted at the start of the year however the Chinese government imposed export taxes on several fertilisers that
we had ordered and these costs were passed on to the consumer.
The Group’s average selling price for 2008 for CPO was 926 US
dollars per tonne, this is lower than the average CIF Rotterdam
price for the year of 998 US dollars, the difference reflecting
forward sales made at lower prices. The average selling price
achieved compares favourably to the average for the previous
year of 780 US dollars.

In 2007 the Group sold 15 million seeds up from 4 million in
2007, an excellent result although this would have been higher
still if demand for seeds had not dropped as Indonesian demand
in particular, fell away as the effects of the economic downturn
impacted planting programs there. The curtailed planting programs of these customers will reduce the availability of palm oil
in years to come.

Group Operational overview
Palm Oil Operations
In 2008 the company continued to expand its palm oil production base with the addition of 7,228 hectares of oil palm, of which
1,895 hectares were new plantings and 5,333 hectares were existing
plantings acquired through the acquisition of RAIL. Crop volumes
continued to rise and 2008 was a record year for oil production with
approximately 320,000 tonnes of crude oil (crude palm oil and palm
kernel oil) produced from the group’s six oil mills. We have forecast
oil production to rise in 2009 to exceed 350,000 tonnes assuming
that there are no unforeseen circumstances.
Fruit production from the estates increased to approximately
875,000 tonnes with a further 393,000 tonnes purchased from
smallholder growers. Overall estate yields per hectare were
15
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slightly disappointing in 2008. On a per hectare basis our most
productive estates continued to have yields that exceeded thirty
tonnes of fruit bunches and overall our average estate yields in
New Britain were 24.4 tonnes of fruit bunches per hectare compared to 20.1 in the Solomon Islands and 15 in Ramu. The yields
at Ramu were affected by both incomplete harvesting during the
year as the oil mill was only commissioned in April and the very
young age profile of the estates.
Weather conditions were generally good throughout the year with
the exception of a remarkably wet start to the year in January with
over one metre of rainfall in New Britain. This was followed by
February and March that had only half their annual average rainfall. The year ended in New Britain with 3530mm of rainfall recorded at our research station, slightly below our annual average
of 3734mm, with no soil moisture deficits recorded and higher
than average sunshine hours. In the Solomon Islands harvesting
was affected by prolonged rainfall at the start of the year. We
undoubtedly lost some crop because of this as harvesting intervals
became extended.
Oil extraction rates (OER) at our mills showed some improvement
in 2008 as we made significant progress in New Britain to improve
the ripeness standards of our fruit and tighten process controls. The
end result was an increase in our crude palm oil extraction rate from
16

22.59% in 2007 to 23.19% in 2008. This may not seem like a huge
increase in efficiency but the net effect over the 1,267,274 tonnes of
fruit processed in the year amounts to an extra 7,600 tonnes of oil
produced and an associated revenue of USD 7.0 million.
The organic growth of our palm oil area at NBPOL has been
slower than anticipated in 2008. The main reason for this is the
surveys for high conservation value forest (HCVF), as required
by the RSPO principles and criteria, before any new area can be
planted with oil palms. We have now conducted HCVF surveys
over an area of approximately 6,000 hectares that lies due west
of our current estates in West New Britain Province and appropriate development plans are now being drawn up, taking into
account the results. Planting of this area is planned to start in late
2009 with the main phase of planting taking place in 2010/11.
Originally we had anticipated work to have started in this area in
2008. In the Solomon Islands we have struggled to expand at the
rate we had planned, due in the main to the long time taken for
the resolution of land ownership claims. In many instances this
is an internal issue amongst landowners and their clan members.
We have not developed land without full and prior informed
consent and when disputes have arisen we have stopped development and referred these to the local authorities responsible for
land and associated issues. Consequently it has been a frustrating
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“[this year saw] an

increase in our crude
palm oil extraction rate
from 22.59% in 2007
to 23.19% in 2008”

year in the Solomon Islands but we remain confident that despite
the low rate of development, progress is being made and issues
are being resolved. Importantly in the Guadalcanal Plains most
of the areas that have been brought forward by landowners for oil
palm cultivation are currently under native grassland vegetative
cover. Many of the issues of HCVF assessment are therefore very
straightforward in comparison to West New Britain Province.
The group now has 47,163 hectares planted with oil palm of
which 38,117 hectares are under harvest with the balance being
immature oil palms that have been planted over the past 3 years.
In addition, the group now has 11,400 hectares of cattle grazing
pastures and 8,193 hectares of sugar cane as a result of the RAIL
acquisition. The group has a current land area 86,753 hectares of
which 70,393 is under cultivation.
The group has a very young age profile with a weighted average
palm age of 8.7 years that has been further reduced by the acquisition of RAIL where the oldest commercial palms were planted in
2004. Commercial plantings within the group are usually retained
for a period of 20-22 years. We currently have small areas in
GPPOL which are older than our normal age limit, however these
areas continue to yield well and will be replanted over the next
2-3 years as our younger areas come into harvest.

The company continues to pursue its two pronged strategy of
organic growth and on raising oil yields through our “30:30”
initiative. The “30:30” initiative has the objective of raising fruit
yields to 30 tonnes per hectare and palm product extraction rates
to 30%. Whilst fruit yields in 2008 could not be described as stellar, it is the Directors opinion that overall this is due to the longterm biological yield cycle of oil palms and that the prospects for
increasing yields are most achievable in the short term from the
very young age profile of the group and in the longer term from
the production of higher yielding varieties from our plant breeding program. It is pleasing to report that the company did make
progress by raising oil yields in 2008 through achieving better
extraction rates and further efforts in this field are being pursued.
New Planting Programmes
As highlighted in our 2007 report further development along the
North coast of New Britain is dependent on the construction of
a main access road, known as the Silavuti road. The Silavuti road
is part of the National Government’s long term plan to construct
a highway that spans from Gloucester in West New Britain to
Rabaul in East New Britain. The company plans to start on the
next phase of planting in New Britain in 2009 with agricultural
business leases over approximately 6,000 hectares of land west
of our existing estates Sapuri and Daliavu. In Guadalcanal in the
17
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NBPOL Group: Oil palm age profile

Year Of Field Planting
Solomon Islands we have some 4,100 hectares of land identified adjacent to our existing operations for the next phase of our
expansion of GPPOL. Progress on this in 2008 was sporadic, and
we hope to make better progress in 2009 and plant approximately
1,000 hectares. In Ramu we have a planting programme for approximately 3,000 hectares that involves the conversion of cattle
grazing pastures at our estates at Dumpu and Gusap.
New Oil Mill capacity
The company’s next new oil mill (the seventh in the group) will
have a capacity of 60 tonnes of fruit per hour and will be located
in Numundo Plantation. Geophysical soil tests and the design of
the mill have been completed. Civil works have been delayed due
to the necessity to re-position the mill site and are now expected
to commence in early 2009 with commissioning of the mill due in
2010. We have started construction of the housing for the new mill.
We are also expanding Kumbango oil mill’s capacity from 40 tonnes
per hour to 60 tonnes per hour and this is expected for completion
in early 2009 with work already well advanced. The eighth mill,
also a 60 tonne per hour capacity unit is planned for completion in
2011/12. This mill will be located at Malilimi Plantation and work on
this will commence in 2010.
The extension work at Kumbango kernel mill was completed in mid
2008 increasing palm kernel processing capacity to over 340 tonnes
per day. Oil extraction rates at the new plant have also improved.
Methane capture and usage
from milling by-products
Methane is a potent “greenhouse gas” (twenty times more potent
than carbon dioxide) and is produced in a natural, biological process called anaerobic digestion. Currently the palm oil
industry uses anaerobic digestion ponds to treat the palm oil
mill effluent that is discharged during the oil extraction process.
Methane is however a potential energy source and can be used
(after treatment) in gas engines to generate electricity. It can also
be used as a fuel source in a gas fired boiler to generate steam, either for direct processing needs or as a feed for a steam turbine to
generate electricity. In recent years technology has been developed
whereby methane can be captured from anaerobic digestion ponds
and either flared or used as fuel for power and steam generation.
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In 2008 the company took the decision to start a program of
building methane capture, treatment and power generation plants
at four of the group’s oil mills with the intention for this to be
ultimately rolled out at all of our palm mills as a standard feature.
The concept is not only to dramatically reduce the emission of
greenhouse gases but to also reduce the consumption of diesel
by using methane as fuel to generate electricity. The first oil mills
will have this technology built in 2009/10 and following successful commissioning the program will be replicated in the Solomon
Islands and at Ramu.
NBPOL has entered into contracts for the engineering design of the
methane capture plants. The company hopes to be able register these
projects as clean development mechanisms (CDM) that will generate certified emission reductions (CERs) to allow carbon trading.
The amounts of certified emission reductions (CERs) that the first 4
projects should generate from methane destruction are estimated at
+170,000 CERs (tCo2e). These estimates are only preliminary.
In line with the groups philosophy on improving sustainability we
are working towards the projects achieving the “Gold Standard”
certification, which is the premium label for CERs. To achieve
this standard each of the projects must use 65% of the biogas for
energy services (i.e. electricity, heat in the boilers, cooking fuel,
etc.). The Gold Standard requires that the projects go beyond
the simple emission reduction benefits and demonstrates good
sustainability outcomes, i.e. positive environmental and social
benefits. There is an opportunity to gain additional emission reductions from the renewable electricity generation component of
the project. The company is assessing all possible alternative uses
for the captured methane whether it be for direct power generation through the use of gas engines or by combustion in a boiler
to generate power via a steam turbine. We are also looking at
opportunities to compress and bottle biogas for use as a cooking
fuel. Bottled biogas would in turn reduce the amount of forest
wood that has traditionally been used in PNG as a source of fuel
for open fire cooking. Introducing additional electricity services
for employees and extending the electricity grid to rural communities in West New Britain are also being investigated.
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“We are also expanding

Kumbango oil mill’s capacity
from 40 tonnes per hour to
60 tonnes per hour and this
is expected for completion
in early 2009 with work
already well advanced”

CPO PRODUCTION

Research and Development Overview
Profitability starts with high yielding genetic material and this
view underpins the company’s agricultural philosophy.
The group’s plant breeding and seed production operations (based
at Dami) supply the Group with planting material that is both
high yielding and suited to its environment. The plant breeding
strategy aims to deliver oil yields in excess of 9 tonnes per hectare
on a consistent basis under New Britain’s growing conditions and
the plant breeding program is the foundation stone of the company’s “30:30 vision”.
Improvement in the oil yield of each subsequent generation of our
material is evident. Over the last three decades, yields have steadily increased and trial data shows that the average yield of crude
palm oil has increased from 6.1 tonnes per hectare to 9.0 tonnes
per hectare (refer to graph).
This 47% increase in yield represents a 1.6% incremental increase per year over the last 3 decades. The latest yield increment
has obviously not yet been rolled out to the group’s plantations,
and these newer progenies must be produced in large numbers
and “commercialised”.
The genetic base of the breeding population has also been expanded
to include material from Ghana, Nigeria and Elaeis Oleifera palms
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from Costa Rica. Material from such diverse origins needs to be developed and tested to further exploit the genetic and environmental
interactions present within the group’s broad land bank.
Seed Production
Seed sales in 2008 reached 15.1 million seeds from 3,649 mother
palms spread across 10 seed gardens. Although this was an
increase of 12 million seeds from 2007 it still represented only
75% of the predicted sales target. The global economic downturn
resulted in many Indonesian producers reducing or halting planting programs. This alone accounted for a loss in sales of 5 million
seeds. Local PNG companies also cancelled orders in the third
and fourth quarter of 2008 and total sales were down 15% for
19
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this sector. The continuing political turmoil in Thailand also meant
that only one out of the nine Thai seed clients managed to obtain
the necessary documentation for imports. Clients in Honduras
and Cameroon and Sri Lanka fared better, exceeding their original
seed requirement estimates.
The export of fifteen million seeds is the highest sales volume for
Dami since its establishment over 40 years ago. Forecasts for seed
sales in 2009 are currently looking pessimistic as many customers have credit and cash flow issues that have impacted on their
planting programs.
Dami has successfully maintained its quality management system
for its seed production unit and has again been recertified to the ISO
9000:2000 standard. The unit which was originally certified in October 2005 has received no major non-compliances during all of the
subsequent surveillance audits through to the 2008 recertification.
Biotechnology
Improving palm oil profitability inevitably leads to seeking ways
to improve productivity of the existing crop. Vegetative propagation (cloning) of elite palms offers an option for the rapid reproduction of individual palms so that very high yielding palms can
be produced in commercial numbers. The company has accumulated considerable experience over 15 years of research and
development in the use of tissue culture methodology to clone
elite trees.
Enhanced Productivity Technology
In September 2008 new palm sampling and propagation tissue
culture technology was integrated into the existing production
protocols at Dami Oil Palm Research Station (OPRS). These
techniques have significantly improved the speed and efficiency
of establishing new cultures, from which plants develop. Some of
the cultures were producing new plantlets which had advanced
to the “shoot-forming” stage by December 2008. Research and
development using a technique known as “suspension culture”
began in 2006 and has identified an additional new protocol
with the potential to allow future automation of plant production.
Cultures from suspension culture established in the last quarter
of 2008 are now being tested on shoot producing medium. The
results are highly encouraging.
Concurrent research is also being carried out to reduce the time
taken in the later steps in plant production, with the goal of reducing costs of production of cloned plants. These new technologies, when evaluated, have the potential to reduce the length of
the tissue culture cycle by at least a year, allowing productive
gains from elite clones to be commercialised sooner than previously possible.
The double haploid programme is still ongoing but the recent
improvements in the micro-propagation system developed at
Dami offer the opportunity to significantly advance the tissue
culture research, complementing both the Breeding programs and
the seed production operations. Consequently more effort is being
placed on this research.
Biodiversity Support - Dami biotechnology laboratory has also developed protocols for the tissue culture of a specific plant food for
larvae of Qrnithoptera alexandae, the very large Queen Alexan20

dra Birdwing Butterfly listed under CITES as highly endangered.
Plants capable of growing in the field have been produced in
research programme collaboration with Papua New Guinea Oil
Palm Research Association. Pararistolochia dielsiana is itself an
endangered species and this work at Dami Biotechnology is a
significant contribution to improving and securing biodiversity in
Papua New Guinea.
Technical Services
Following the review of the 5 year agronomy and precision
agriculture programs a new department was formed to deliver technical assistance to the group’s plantations in order to
help them to deliver the “30:30 vision” along with their wider
agronomic needs. The Strategies employed cover: Precision,
site specific management to ensure maximum sustainable yield
through determining the yield gap between fields, better practice
programs to elucidate fertiliser response through provision of
nutrient management and soil characterisation and conservation
strategies aimed at improved soil management.
Advisory services include site mapping of all group holdings,
including support for the work of the sustainability group in
high conservation value assessment and in linking smallholders into the GPS and GIS systems in use within the plantations.
Remote sensing is used as an agronomic and diagnostic tool for
land suitability assessments and in addition further roles have
been outlined in crop protection management, integrated pest
management and understanding the genetic and environmental
interactions of Dami planting material to fertilisers.
There are nine major agronomy trials still in progress and the
agronomy section works with the breeding section in running
joint trials and the various satellite stations. Dami OPRS continues to provide fertiliser recommendation for all of the group’s
holdings which it achieves through soil and tissue analysis and
field visual assessments. With the addition of RAIL the Group
now has research programs on mainland PNG on oil palm, sugar
and a number of smaller initiatives all of which are coordinated
from Dami OPRS. Programs are also underway to map the RAIL
landholding.
Sugar Production
With the acquisition of RAIL the group is the only sugar producer in Papua New Guinea. The demand for sugar in PNG is
strong. There has been a steady increase in consumption over
recent years with 41,500 tonnes consumed last year. Consumption per person continues to be amongst the lowest in the world
at only 6.4kg per annum, the potential for increased domestic
demand is significant especially as the economy has been growing rapidly over recent times. The industry enjoys protection in
the form of a tariff of 70% for all imported sugar. This will be in
place until January 2011, when it is due to be reduced to 40%.
During 2008 some 3,000 tonnes of sugar was imported from
Australia by RAIL to meet the shortfall between production and
domestic demand.
During the year the operation harvested some 430,757 tonnes of
cane from 7,590 hectares. This was a significant improvement on
the previous two years, 371,793 tonnes of cane was harvested in
2007 and only 361,577 tonnes in 2006. However yields remain
well below the target of 475,000 tonnes or 43,930 tonnes of sugar.
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“Vegetative propagation
(cloning) of elite palms
offers an option for the
rapid reproduction”

The sugar factory has a capacity exceeding 3,000 tonnes of cane
per day and over a 26 week period can process 500,000 tonnes
of cane with ease, as cane production has been much lower than
this the factory has been under little pressure. That said overall
sugar recovery for 2008 was less than expected at 79.2% against
a target of 82%. This has been due in part to inconsistent delivery
of cane from the field, however closer attention is required on
maintenance and milling efficiency.

intercropped with oil palms the cattle herd ended the year with
3,882 head. During the year 1230 calves were born yielding a
77% calving percentage which was slightly below our target of
80%. Continuing herd improvements are being sought by experimenting with new mineral rations for the cattle and supplementing the forage grass with corn or sorghum forage silage. Over
the longer term (next 5 years) our aim is to increase the herd of
breeding females to 2,000.

Beef Production

At Ramu the herd is much larger with approximately 14,000 head
of cattle. The beef herd at Ramu has suffered from a history of
inconsistent management and investment. Ramu does however
posses a good abattoir that is operated efficiently. The recent
introduction of a feedlot, along the same lines as that operated
at Numundo, has facilitated the improvement in both quality and
quantity of beef produced.

With the acquisition of RAIL the group is the largest producer
of beef in Papua New Guinea with a combined herd of some
18,265 cattle, as at the end of December 2008. Beef will however continue to play a minor role in the investment strategy of
the group. This is not to say that the beef operations are to be
starved of investment, or that beef production cannot be significantly improved to provide a valuable resource to supplement
the earning capacity of the group especially in areas where cattle
and oil palms can be intercropped or in areas where oil palms are
unsuited as a sole commercial crop.
The integrated cattle and beef operation in New Britain continued
to perform well during 2008 making a small contribution to the
overall group profit. Operating on only 677 hectares of pasture

The breeding herd however is of a low quality in terms of animal
type and breeding productivity and is reminiscent of the herd that
NBPOL inherited in 1994 when it bought Numundo. A significant
breed improvement program is required to increase the calving
percentage which currently languishes at less than 50% to an
acceptable level (over 70%). The Numundo operation in terms of
herd size is only 30% that of Ramu and yet produces a revenue
21
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that is 50% that of Ramu. To bring the Ramu herd to the level of
productivity of the Numundo herd will be a lengthy project but
would double beef revenues without increasing the size of the
breeding herd. This is our first priority.

audits. The ISO 14001 process approach, with its continuous
improvement circle and rigor of systematic internal audits, is
seen as fundamental to all the Group’s sustainability initiatives.
Occupational Health and Safety

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
Profitability, efficiency and sustainability cannot be separated
and remain the core elements of NBPOL’s drive for continuous
improvement. Dami OPRS has been at the forefront of many new
scientific, technological and environmental initiatives and this
supporting role has now been enlarged with the creation of a Sustainability section, tasked with coordinating the company’s initiatives in social accountability, occupational health and safety and
environmental management. Headed by a designated sustainability manager, the team of officers report to the group sustainability
manager and ultimately the Director of Sustainability.
Sustainability Report
Both the ISO 14001 and the RSPO standards fall short of reporting on social and environmental issues. In 2008 the company
embarked on a process to report on these using the Good Reporting Initiative, G3 guidelines. The Group developed a mechanism
to determine key performance indicators and measure and report
on performance. The report addressed the concerns of stakeholders looking at the materiality of the concerns, the completeness in
which the company reported them and the responsiveness to the
various stakeholder groups. The report, which is on the NBPOL
website, is the first CSR report from an oil palm company and is
one of the few within the agri-business sector.
Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO)
In 2005 the concept of a specific sustainability standard for oil
palm moved closer with the release of the RSPO principles and
criteria. NBPOL, which had always supported the work of the
RSPO, began implementing this standard. The principles and
criteria evolved further, such that in late 2007 they appeared in
their current form and shortly after this the PNG national interpretation process developed the first national standard. NBPOL
was audited against this standard and despite some early setbacks
achieved certification in September 2008. NBPOL being the second company in the industry to be certified and remains the only
company certified under this scheme to include 100% of its fruit
supply base by including not only its directly managed plantations but all of its associated smallholders (of which there are over
seven thousand).
Programmes are underway in GPPOL and in RAIL to implement
the RSPO standard into all operations in these areas. The work is
ambitious but expected to be completed in GPPOL in 2009 and
in 2010 for RAIL.
Environmental Management
NBPOL is committed to developing the highest standards in social and environmental performance. Under its initiative entitled
People – Planet – Profit, the Group embarked on the implementation of an ambitious environmental management program using
ISO 14001 as its framework. In April 2004 NBPOL achieved certification to this standard for all aspects of its operations and has
maintained this performance throughout 4 annual surveillance
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Major steps forward have been made in the area of occupational
health and safety (OHS). The company now has a systematic
approach which mirrors the continuous improvement cycle of its
environmental initiatives. Elements of the OHS and EMS system
are now integrated and internally inspected at regular intervals. In
line with our view that “you can only manage what is measured”
a new Inspectorate role has been created, reporting directly to
the General Manager and Director of Sustainability. Lost time
accidents, are all monitored, analyzed and reported on (c.f. the
sustainability report). Accident investigations are prompt and corrective action appropriate and sustained. The programs developed
at NBPOL are now being rolled out to GPPOL and RAIL and
group reporting standards will be adopted.

Supporting Social and Infrastructure
Development
Health Services
NBPOL provides comprehensive health care for all its workers and their dependents and as at 31st December 2008, this
figure stood at over twenty one thousand people in New Britain
and just under five thousand at Ramu. It is company practice to
ensure that every employee has easy access to health services.
Living areas (compounds) for the workers are located within the
plantations. Some plantations have a compound in each division
and each compound has an aid post. Each group has a health
centre serving a number of aid posts. Every housing compound
has an aid post that is operated by an appropriately trained health
worker. There are a total of 3 health centres and 28 aid posts. The
main clinic located at Mosa has full laboratory facilities. The laboratory has capabilities comparable to that of a good provincial
hospital. The laboratory does blood slides, full blood examination, biochemistry, microscopy, urinalysis etc. More difficult tests
are sent to Australia. The clinic has a minor operating theatre, an
ultrasound scanner and an ECG machine. More modest facilities
are available at Ramu, where the health centre is centralised and the
laboratory is limited to full blood examinations and malarial testing.
The NBPOL health system employs about 50 health workers
(Nursing officers and Community health workers). There are also
two highly qualified Doctors supported by 2 Health Extension
Officers on staff. Ramu employs 16 health workers overseen by a
General Practitioner, who is a fully employed member of staff. The
company health system provides services similar to those provided by the Government run health centres and aid posts. Because
of the more reliable resources enjoyed by NBPOL, the company
health services are more efficient than comparative Government
health facilities. The availability of transport means that workers
can reach the aid posts in reasonable time. Each of the health
centres has an ambulance vehicle for collecting patients and for
the referral out to other facilities. Medical supplies to the NBPOL
health facilities are well stocked and services are provided free
of charge to NBPOL employees and their dependents. Due to the
distance between Ramu and Lae, where the nearest hospital is
located, RAIL operates two full time ambulances.

BUSINESS REVIEW

“NBPOL provides

comprehensive health
care for all its workers
and their dependents”

Every NBPOL health facility provides acute medical care as its
main function. Common illness such as malaria, childhood diseases, respiratory tract infections and injuries etc are treated at the
aid posts and health centres. Patients with chronic illnesses such
as diabetes and hypertension are followed up at regular visits.
Weekly antenatal clinics are provided at the health centres. Transport is provided for mothers who reside in distant compounds.
The company heath service is responsible for the vaccination of
all children within the company. Regular clinics are carried out
for the assessment, treatment and vaccination of children. A family planning service is easily available to anyone who wants it. A
weekly gynaecology clinic is carried out at Mosa clinic. Patients
with difficult gynaecological problems are referred to Mosa clinic
to be seen by a gynaecology nurse and doctors. Pap smears are
also done at this clinic. Mosa Clinic provides voluntary testing and counselling services as part of the company’s HIV Aids
awareness program.
Education
The company provides educational facilities and financial assistance with school fees for its employee’s children. The company
runs two international schools, one at New Britain and one
at Ramu. These schools enrol children of both expatriate and
national executive staff with intakes from foundation to year 6,

at New Britain and year 8 at Ramu. Teaching staff at both are
expatriate and nationals. After year 6 children either go overseas
or proceed to a local school to do their secondary education. The
company has provided considerable assistance in terms of infrastructure to a number of ”external” schools in the areas in which
it operates. School fees are 90% subsidised for up to 3 children
in any one year and also transport is provided for children to and
from school each day.
In New Britain three primary schools follow the National Education system and are located within the group’s plantations. At
Ramu one primary school ‘St. Lukes’ follows the National Education system and is based close to the Head Office at RAIL. The
schools cater for all employee’s children from elementary to year
8. Although the four schools are staffed and run by the Provincial Education Department, the infrastructure of classrooms and
teachers housing, power and water is supplied by the Company.
Transport is provided for children from out-lying plantations to
school and back each day. Children selected to continue their
secondary level education will proceed to a local secondary
school to do year 9 to 12. At secondary level, the Company pays
for school tuition fees in full for up to 3 children per family per
year and also provides transport to and from school each day. This
assistance is subject to the Company’s profitability and capacity to
pay. Since the introduction of this assistance in 2003, the company
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“During the year the operation

harvested some 430,757
tonnes of cane from 7,590
hectares. This was a significant
improvement on the previous
two years”

has continued to provide this assistance every year. Total school
enrolment of employee’s children for all schools in New Britain is
2,621 students. At Ramu total school enrolment is at 864.
Tax Credit Funded Infrastructure
The company continues to work closely with both the Provincial and National Governments to implement an effective tax
credit scheme for the maintenance and upgrading of public
infrastructure. The tax credit scheme allows up to 1.5% of the
company’s taxable revenue to be spent on the construction or
maintenance of public infrastructure. Expenditure requires both
the approval of the Provincial and National Authorities before it
is allowed to be deducted from company’s tax liability. In West
New Britain we undertook approved tax credit projects worth in
excess of 5.7 million kina with repairs to the national highway,
its bridges and feeder road networks.
New Britain Palm Oil Foundation Limited
In May 1997, the Company established the New Britain Palm
Oil Foundation (the “Foundation”), with the objective of making funds available for the betterment of health, education and
otherwise for the people living in proximity to the Company’s
operations. The foundation was subsequently approved as a
charitable body with the result that donations to it are allowable
deductions under the Income Tax Act of PNG.
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NBPOL has funded or built a number of school classrooms, aid
posts and police accommodation around West New Britain Province as well as providing water bores for clean drinking water in
many villages.
This funding is undertaken by the Foundation using funds both
donated to it by the Company and earned on investments. In
2008 USD 170,179 was spent by the Foundation on various
projects including:
• Valupai Primary School:
construction of a new double classroom
• Dagi Primary School:
construction of a new double classroom
• Malalia Primary School:
construction of teacher’s housing
• Kimbe General Hospital:
financial assistance
• Kimbe Police:
renovations and upgrading of police housing
In December the Board of NBPOL also approved the donation
of USD 98,000 towards the costs of an eye clinic to be set up at
Kimbe General Hospital.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
Your directors take pleasure in presenting their Annual Report,
including the financial statements and consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2008.
DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITES

DIVIDENDS

The directors are obliged under Company law to prepare financial
statements for each financial year and to present them annually to
the Company’s shareholders in the Annual General Meeting.

In January 2008 the interim dividend for 2007 of 13.8 cents per
share was paid. In July 2008 a final dividend for 2007 was paid
of 14 cents per share. In October 2008 an interim dividend of 14
cents per share was paid. In February 2009 a final dividend was
declared of 14 cents per share and will be paid in May.

The financial statements, of which the form and content is
prescribed by the Papua New Guinea Companies Act 1997 and
applicable accounting standards, must give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year,
and of the profit for that period.
The directors are also responsible for the adaptation of suitable
accounting policies and their consistent use in the financial statements, supported where necessary by reasonable and prudent
judgements.
The directors ensure the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website.
The Directors confirm that the above requirements have been
complied with in the financial statements.
In addition, the directors are responsible for maintaining adequate
accounting records and sufficient internal controls to safeguard
the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud or
any other irregularities as described more fully in the Corporate
Governance statement.

ACTIVITIES
During the year, the group has continued to grow and process
oil palm fresh fruit bunches harvested from its own plantations
as well as from surrounding smallholders in West New Britain,
Papua New Guinea.
The group also continued its investment in the Solomon Islands
where harvesting and milling commenced at the end of 2006 and
oil palm rehabilitation continued during the year.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
Director’s remuneration, including the value of benefits, received
during the year, is as follows:
GROUP AND HOLDING COMPANY
2008
2007
	USD ‘000	USD ‘000
Hj Ahamad Mohamad

72

74

Tan Sri’ Dr Arshad Ayub

36

37

Mrs Winifred Kamit

36

37

226

-

75

-

N.M. Thompson

633

526

D.L.M. Dann

466

21

A.J. Chaytor

151

-

Dato Mohd Ismail Che Rus

-

37

Sheik Sharufuddin Sheik Mohd

-

37

A. Monteiro De Castro
M. St Clair- George

The group also acquired Ramu Agri Industries Ltd with operations
in sugar, oil palm and cattle and operating in both Morobe and
Madang provinces, Papua New Guinea.

RESULTS
Net profit attributable to the shareholders was USD 21,245,000
(2007: USD 86,940,000).
Equity of the group at the year-end totaled USD 395,363,000
which was an increase of USD 24,889,000 over the 2007 yearend total of USD 370,474,000.
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REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES
The number of employees (not including directors) whose remuneration, including benefits was
within the specified bands was as follows: (2007 figures in parentheses).
Band In USD

Number	

Band In USD

Number	

Band In USD

Number	

$35,000 - 39,999

14 (15)

$40,000 - 49,999

16 (10)

$50,000 - 59,999

19(9)

$60,000 - 69,999

6 (5)

$70,000 - 79,999

5 (6)

$80,000 - 89,999

0(2)

$90,000 - 99,999

9 (1)

$110,000 - 119,999

1 (2)

$120,000 - 129,999

3(2)

$130,000 - 139,999

5 (3)

$140,000 - 140,999

2 (3)

$150,000 - 159,999

1(0)

$160,000 - 169,999

4 (2)

$170,000 - 179,999

1 (1)

$180,000 - 189,999

0(3)

$190,000 - 199,999

2 (2)

$200,000 - 209,999

1 (3)

$210,000 - 219,999

0(1)

$220,000 - 229,999

0 (2)

$230,000 - 239,999

2 (1)

$250,000 - 259,999

2(1)

$270,000 - 279,999

1 (0)

$300,000 - 309,999

2 (1)

$320,000 - 329,999

0(1)

$340,000 - 349,999

1 (0)

$370,000 - 379,999

1 (0)

$420,000 - 429,999

1(0)

			Total 99 (76)					

INTERESTS REGISTER
Details of directors’ interests in the equity of the Company as at the date of this report
are as follows:
N.M. Thompson 350,021 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
D.L.M. Dann 121,938 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
A.J. Chaytor 7,586,500 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
A.M. De Castro 150,000 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
M.A. St Clair George 209,436 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

AUDITORS
Details of amounts paid to the auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers for the audit and other
services are shown in note 5 to the financial statements.

DONATIONS
The total amount of donations made by the Company and the group is stated in note 5
to the financial statements.
For and on behalf of the Board

Managing Director

Signed in Singapore
20 March 2009
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Chairman

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Corporate Governance
standards & practices
The Board of the company places considerable value on responsible and transparent corporate governance policies and
standards in the company. As a result of the company’s listing on
the London Stock Exchange, the Board has striven to meet the
governance standards and requirements of the Combined Code
of Corporate Governance 2006 of the Financial Services Authority (UK). In Papua New Guinea, the Board has over the years
applied the Governance Guidelines issued by the PNG Institute of
Directors. The Board has also observed the relevant governance
requirements in the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange
and Port Moresby Stock Exchange. Your Board is satisfied that
that the company has substantially maintained those governance
standards and requirements.
The Board has regularly reviewed the company’s corporate
governance policies and practices to improve at various levels
and areas and also to be abreast with the changing environments
including new technologies and products. The underlying objective of the Board of the company has been to create, protect and
enhance value for the shareholders through transparent governance standards and practices.

The Board of Directors
The composition of the Board has remained at eight(8) since the
listing of the company on London Stock Exchange. There is no immediate need or plans to change that composition. The composition of the Board is;
Hj Ahamad Mohamad
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
Antonio Monteiro de Castro
Non-Executive & Independent Director & Chairman Elect
Michael St Clair George 		
Non-Executive & Independent Director
Winifred Kamit 			
Non-Executive & Independent Director

Independent Directors
For purposes of the Combined Code, the Chairman elect, Michael
St Clair George and Winfred Kamit are Independent directors of
the company. The Chairman elect and Michael St Clair George
were appointed as additional and Independent directors to meet
the requirements of the Combined Code with the listing of the
company on London Stock Exchange in December 2007.

Disclosure of Directors Interests
As part of good and transparent governance, each director is
required to disclose his or her interests (or changes thereof) in a
matter that is to be considered by the Board, and which the director or directors might consider as a potential conflict of interest on
their part with respect to the subject matter. A register of directors interests is maintained to ensure that the director interests (or
changes thereof) and disclosures are recorded.

Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall direction and performance of the company. It is the Board’s responsibility to formulate
and monitor the company’s business strategies and to oversee
the company’s budgets and financial position. The Board is also
responsible for approving major transactions including capital
expenditures, disposals and acquisitions such as the acquisition of
Ramu Agri Industries Ltd in the year.
The day-to-day management and operations of the company is
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management.
However, certain powers and functions remain that of the Board
and these include;
• Approval of corporate strategies and objectives, resources,
and budgets of the company,
• Approval of further capital raising, and
• Approval of major transactions including capital expenditures,
acquisitions and disposals
• Approval of financial statements and other prescribed
reports, and
• Reviewing the appropriateness and adequacy of corporate
governance policies and standards of the company.

Tan Sri Dr Arshad Ayub 		
Non-Executive Director

• Evaluating performances of the senior management
of the company

Nicholas Mark Thompson
CEO and Executive Director

• Approving the company’s risk management policies and
control systems

Alan James Chaytor 			
Executive (Marketing & Sales) Director

• Formulating and approving the company’s treasury policies
including hedging policy and denominated currency of
reporting, and

David Dann 			
Executive (Finance) Director
Hj Ahamad Mohamad and Tan Sri Arshad Ayub represent Kulim
(Malaysia) Berhad which holds 50.68 per cent of the issued and
voting shares in the company. Winifred Kamit is also a resident (i.e,
PNG) director to comply with the Companies Act of Papua New
Guinea where the company was incorporated and registered.

• Appointment of external auditors
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
The company maintains a clear demarcation of the responsibilities of the Board Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board,
and ensures that the Board effectively carries out its mandates including ensuring that management provides accurate, timely and
clear information to the Board. The Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the running of the companies businesses.
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Board Meetings & Circular Resolutions

Remuneration policy

The Board meetings are held quarterly but where necessary the
Board may hold additional meetings at intervals in the year. In
addition to the full Board Meetings, the various Board Committees meet as and when necessary.

The company aims is to attract, retain and fairly reward directors
of a high caliber, while ensuring that the remuneration of each
individual executive director is consistent with the best interests
of the company and its shareholders. It is the responsibility of the
board to ensure that the policy is applied in a responsible and
transparent manner.

One Board meeting (in May 2008) was conducted by telephone
conference by the directors. That was necessary by reason of the
different locations of the directors where it was impractical to get
all the directors to attend a meeting in person. The Board does not
consider any material adversity in using that forum or mode to
discuss board matters.
Where urgent or necessary, a number of Board resolutions are
proposed to and made by the Board by Circular Resolutions
which are ratified in the next Board meeting. Relevant information is provided to the Board or Committees with the proposed
circular resolutions. The directors are at liberty to request further
information or reports related to the proposed resolutions.
The Board held four meetings in March, May, August and December in 2008.
Information & Reports to the directors
The Management ensures that information and reports are provided to the directors in a timely and complete manner for the
Board and the Committees to note or consider. Other operational
reports and management accounts are provided to the Board on a
monthly basis.

Currently the remuneration of executive directors is based on an
annual salary, none of which is pensionable and certain benefits
in-kind. The executive directors have also received non-pensionable performance related bonuses. These have been awarded annually in arrears taking into account the performance of the group
and the contribution to that performance of each director. The
highest bonuses awarded in 2008 did not exceed 45% of salary.
The company does not have a long term incentive plan nor have
there been any grants of shares or options to the executive directors in 2008. However when finalized it is the intention of the
board to recommend to shareholders the adoption of an appropriate long term incentive plan and a revised annual incentive plan.
Audit committee
The Audit committee comprises of Michael St Clair George (chairman), Antonio Monteiro de Castro, and Winifred Kamit, all three
are independent directors. The company’s external auditors, the
board chairman, the CEO and the finance director, may attend
and speak at meetings if required by the committee.
The Audit Committee is responsible for:

Retirement (by rotation) and
re-election of directors
The Constitution of the company requires one third of the directors (or the next lowest whole number) to retire by rotation at
each annual meeting. The Constitution also requires directors
(other than the CEO, an alternate director, or a casual director
appointed to fill a vacancy) to retire at the next annual meeting if
the directors have held office for more than three years at the time
of the next annual meeting. Directors retiring are eligible for reappointment. Hj Ahamad Mohamad, Antonio Monterio de Castro,
Tan Sri’ Dr Arshad Ayub, Alan James Chaytor, Michael St Clair
George, and David Dann retired by rotation and were re-elected
at the annual meeting held on the 12 May 2008.
Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining
(within agreed terms of reference) and recommending to the
Board the company’s policy on remuneration of the executive
directors and senior management of the company, and to review
the policy and remunerations levels from time to time. These responsibilities include also recommending for bonus, and pension,
share options or schemes or other non-cash remuneration for the
executive directors and senior management of the group.
The Committee is constituted by Winifred Kamit (Chairperson
of the Committee), Antonio Monteiro de Castro and Michael St.
Clair George who are all Independent directors.
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• monitoring of the integrity of the financial statements
• reviewing the effectiveness of group’s internal controls
and risk management systems and policies
• reviewing and evaluating the independence and performance
of the external auditors
The audit committee members discharge their responsibilities by
informal discussions between themselves and the external auditors and management, by considering reports by management
and the external auditors and formal meetings of which there
were two in 2008.
Nominations Committee
The nominations committee is responsible for considering and
recommending to the Board the size, structure and composition
of the Board. The committee makes recommendations to the
Board for the appointment of directors where there are vacancies
on the Board.
The Committee is made up of non executive and independent
directors namely Ahamad Mohamad (Chairman), Antonio Monteiro de Castro, Tan Sri’ Arshad Ayub and Winifred Kamit. No new
Board appointments were made during the year.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
Report on the financial statements
and consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of New
Britain Palm Oil Limited (the ‘Company’) and the consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’)
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2008 and the
income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow
statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

Opinion

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements and consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, other generally accepted accounting practice in Papua
New Guinea and with the requirements of the Papua New Guinea Companies Act 1997. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the
Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 December 2008, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and other
Papua New Guinea Companies Act 1997.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management and the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
The Papua New Guinea Companies Act 1997 requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following matters. We confirm that:
i) in our opinion proper accounting records have been kept
by the Company and the Group, so far as appears from our
examination of those records;
ii) we have obtained all the information and explanations we
have required; and
iii) in conducting our audit we followed applicable independence
requirements of Certified Practising Accountants Papua New
Guinea.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Brett Entwistle
Registered under the Accountants Act 1996
Port Moresby
20 March 2009

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
Consolidated	Holding Company
Notes
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
4

352,219

224,954

303,911

210,439

Cost of sales		

(165,817)

(95,323)

(134,685)

(87,458)

Gross profit		
186,402
129,631
				

169,226

122,981

Revenue

Net (loss) gain arising
from changes in fair value
of biological assets

8

(77,476)

39,702

(73,464)

42,434

Other income

4

1,399

2,406

674

2,895

Distribution costs		

(42,118)

(35,000)

(36,591)

(32,473)

Administrative expenses		

(45,161)

(17,194)

(40,255)

(15,778)

Operating profit

23,046

119,545

19,590

120,059

5

			
Interest income		

3,860

62

3,801

59

Finance costs		

(1,606)

(1,214)

(377)

(289)

Net finance income (costs)		
2,254
(1,152)
				

3,424

(230)

Share of profit from joint venture

22

3,505

3,190

-

-

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX		

28,805

121,584

23,014

119,829

(6,605)

(34,611)

(10,257)

(35,431)

22,200

86,973

12,757

84,398

Income tax expense

6(a)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR		

Attributable to:					
Equity holders of the Company		

21,245

86,940

12,757

84,398

Minority interest		

955

33

-

-

		

22,200

86,973

12,757

84,398

					
Earnings per share

23

$

$		

- Basic		

0.147

0.600 		

- Diluted		

0.147

0.600 		

Earnings before net gain arising from changes in fair value of biological assets are shown in note 23

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER
Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
Notes	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
NON CURRENT ASSETS		
Property, plant and equipment
7

326,817

182,177

199,454

154,894

Biological assets

8

67,732

134,143

59,411

127,230

Investments in associates

9

4,779

3,515

76,884

12,123

		
399,328
			

319,835

335,749

294,247

CURRENT ASSETS					
Cash and cash equivalents

10

64,582

135,600

54,884

132,566

Trade and other receivables

11

62,512

55,309

50,196

50,955

Derivative financial instruments

15

15,905

-

15,905

-

8

10,306

138

1,020

138

Inventories

12

51,280

18,176

21,457

16,402

Amounts owed by group companies

13

-

-

26,055

18,096

		

204,585

209,223

169,517

218,157

TOTAL ASSETS		
603,913
			

529,058

505,266

512,404

Biological assets

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES					
Borrowings

14

45,322

14,363

11,766

14,363

Derivative financial instruments

15

-

2,220

-

2,220

Deferred income tax liabilities

6(b)

86,084

67,398

63,592

65,753

		
		

131,406

83,981

75,358

82,336

CURRENT LIABILITIES					
Borrowings

14

13,105

5,326

5,270

5,326

Trade and other payables

16

29,548

11,273

12,220

10,245

Derivative financial instruments

15

-

24,786

-

24,786

Current income tax liabilities		

34,491

11,739

34,491

11,819

Amounts owed to group companies

13

-

-

658

184

Dividends payable

16

-

21,479

-

21,479

		

77,144

74,603

52,639

73,839

TOTAL LIABILITIES		

208,550

158,584

127,997

156,175

					
NET ASSETS		

395,363

370,474

377,269

356,229

					
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY					
Issued capital

17

124,879

124,879

125,012

125,012

Other reserves

18

53,261

10,579

57,883

9,519

Retained earnings		

213,053

231,801

194,374

221,698

		

391,193

367,259

377,269

356,229

Minority interest in equity		

4,170

3,215

-

-

					
TOTAL EQUITY		

395,363

370,474

377,269

356,229

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS AT 31 DECEMBER
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
		
Issued
Other
Retained		Minority
Total
		
Capital
Reserves	Earnings
Total
Interest	Equity
Consolidated
Notes	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Balance at 1 January 2007		

9,440

7,127

174,368

190,935

3,182

194,117

Cashflow hedges net of tax

18

-

(15,184)

-

(15,184)

-

(15,184)

Currency translation differences

18

-

18,636

-

18,636

-

18,636

Net income recognised
directly in equity		

-

3,452

-

3,452

-

3,452

Net profit for the year		

-

-

86,940

86,940

33

86,973

-

3,452

86,940

90,392

33

90,425

115,397

-

-

115,397

-

115,397

Total recognised income
and expense for 2007		
Net proceeds from issuance
of ordinary shares
17
Shares issued for land rights

17

42

-

-

42

-

42

Dividends declared

19

-

-

(29,507)

(29,507)

-

(29,507)

Balance at 31 December 2007		

124,879

10,579

231,801

367,259

3,215

370,474

Cashflow hedges net of tax

18

-

29,579

-

29,579

-

29,579

Currency translation differences

18

-

13,103

-

13,103

-

13,103

Net income recognised directly in equity		

-

42,682

-

42,682

-

42,682

Net profit for the year		

-

-

21,245

21,245

955

22,200

Total recognised income
and expense for 2008		
Dividends declared
19

-

42,682
-

21,245
(39,993)

63,927
(39,993)

955
-

64,882
(39,993)

Balance at 31 December 2008		
53,261
213,053
391,193
4,170
124,879
							

395,363

Company							
Balance at 1 January 2007		
Cashflow hedges net of tax
18

9,615
-

7,102
(15,184)

166,807
-

183,524
(15,184)

-

183,524
(15,184)

18

-

17,601

-

17,601

-

17,601

Net income recognised directly in equity		

-

2,417

-

2,417

-

2,417

Net profit for the year		

-

-

84,398

84,398

-

84,398

-

2,417

84,398

86,815

-

86,815

Currency translation differences

Total recognised income
and expense for 2007		
Net proceeds from issuance
of ordinary shares
17

-

115,397

-

115,397

19

-

-

(29,507)

(29,507)

-

(29,507)

Balance at 31 December 2007		

125,012

9,519

221,698

356,229

-

356,229

Dividends declared

115,397 		

Cashflow hedges net of tax

18

-

29,579

-

29,579

-

29,579

Currency translation differences

18

-

18,785

-

18,785

-

18,785

Net income recognised directly in equity		

-

48,364

-

48,364

-

48,364

Net profit for the year		

-

-

12,757

12,757

-

12,757

Total recognised income
and expense for 2008		
Dividends declared
19

-

48,364
-

12,757
(40,081)

61,121
(40,081)

-

61,121
(40,081)

Balance at 31 December 2008		

125,012

57,883

194,374

377,269

-

377,269

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWs
For the year ended 31 december
Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
Notes	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
CASH FLOW FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES					
Cash receipts from customers		
351,180
204,138
302,407

192,932

Cash payments to suppliers
and employees		

(222,113)

(136,787)

(180,714)

(134,979)

		

129,067

67,351

121,693

57,953

Income tax paid		

(4,688)

(2,820)

(4,688)

(2,749)

Interest paid		

(1,606)

(1,214)

(377)

(289)

Interest received		

3,860

62

3,801

59

Net cash generated from
operating activities		

126,633

63,379

120,429

54,974

CASH FLOW FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES					
Loans provided to
related companies		
(7,485)

-

Acquisition of subsidiary,
net of cash acquired		

(63,391)

-

(63,391)

-

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment		

(52,169)

(24,750)

(44,210)

(22,171)

Expenditure on
plantation development		

(13,456)

(9,375)

(9,028)

(7,453)

Expenditure on biological assets		

(697)

(1,010)

(529)

(1,010)

Net cash used in investing activities		

(129,713)

(35,135)

(124,643)

(30,634)

CASH FLOW FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES					
Proceeds from borrowings		
1,318
3,973
-

3,973

Repayment of borrowings		

(3,892)

(993)

(1,554)

(993)

Net proceeds from share issue		

-

116,094

-

116,094

Dividends paid
to company shareholders		

(61,472)

(10,524)

(61,560)

(10,560)

Net cash generated
from financing activities		

(64,046)

108,550

(63,114)

108,514

					
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND BANK OVERDRAFTS

(67,126)

136,794

(67,328)

132,854

Effects of exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents
and bank overdrafts		

(9,292)

749

(9,255)

1,852

Add : Cash and cash equivalents
and bank overdrafts at the
beginning of the year		

131,281

(6,262)

128,247

(6,459)

54,863

131,281

51,664

128,247

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND BANK OVERDRAFTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

10

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWs For the year
ended 31 december (continued)
RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH GENERATED
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Profit after income tax		
22,200
			

86,973

12,757

84,398

Add/(less) non-cash items:				
Depreciation and amortisation		

20,143

14,650

16,408

12,928

Biological (gain) loss		

77,476

(39,702)

73,464

(42,434)

Net exchange differences		

9,292

(749)

9,255

(1,852)

Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements

1,354

3,809

423

2,503

Share of profit from joint venture		

(3,505)

(3,191)

-

-

Deferred income tax		

(22,485)

13,474

(18,833)

14,294

Gain on disposal of non current assets		
			

(171)

-

(171)

Add (less) movements in working capital items (excluding effects of acquisition)
(Increase) decrease in amounts
due from related companies		

-

-

7,485

(7,166)

(Increase) decrease in trade
and other receivables		

43

(27,373)

759

(24,250)

Increase in current income tax liabilities 		

22,753

14,435

22,673

14,510

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables

1,319

2,663

1,975

2,905

(Increase) decrease in inventories		

(1,957)

(1,439)

(5,937)

(691)

120,429

54,974

				
Net cash generated
from operating activities

126,633

63,379

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information.
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTs
1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New Britain Palm Oil Limited (“the company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the group”) operate in the oil palm industry in Papua New
Guinea, the Solomon Islands, Indonesia and Australia. The group
sells predominately to countries within the European Union, the UK
and Asia. During the year, the group acquired control of Ramu AgriIndustries Limited, a producer of oil palm, sugar and beef operating
wholly in Papua New Guinea.
The company is a limited liability company incorporated in Papua New
Guinea. The address of its registered office is Bebere Plantation, Mosa,
Kimbe, West New Britain Province, Papua New Guinea.
The company has its primary listing on the Port Moresby Stock
Exchange and is also listed on the London Stock Exchange (Main
Market). These consolidated financial statements were authorized
for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2009.

(ii) Interpretations effective in 2008 but not relevant

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

IFRIC 12, Service concession arrangements;

(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) (including International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations). They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of land and financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial information are disclosed in note 3.
(i) Interpretations effective in 2008
IFRIC 11, IFRS 2- Group and treasury share transactions, provides
guidance on whether share-based transactions involving treasury shares or involving group entities should be accounted for
as equity-settled or cash-settled share-based transactions in the
stand-alone accounts of the parent and group companies. The interpretation does not have an impact on the group’s consolidated
financial statements.

The following interpretations are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 but are not relevant to
the Group’s operations:
IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes; and
IFRIC 14, IAS 19- The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum
funding requirements and their interaction.
(iii) Standards, amendments and interpretations
that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the group
IFRS 8, Operating segments (effective from 1 January 2009).
This standard replaces IAS 14, Segment reporting, and aligns segment reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131,
Disclosure about segments of an enterprise and related information.
The new standard requires a “management approach”, under which
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for
internal reporting purposes. The group will apply IFRS 8 from 1 January 2009 and it is expected to result in an increase in the number
of reportable segments in a manner that is more consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing costs (effective from 1 January
2009). The amendment requires an entity to capitalize borrowing
costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset.
The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will
be removed. The definition of borrowing costs has been amended
so that interest expense is calculated using the effective interest
method defined in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
measurement. This eliminates the inconsistency of terms between
IAS 39 and IAS 23. The group will apply IAS 23 (Amendment)
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notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

from 1 January 2009 but it is not expected to have a material
impact on the group’s consolidated financial statements.

apply the IAS 36 (Amendment) and provide the required disclosure where applicable for impairment tests from 1 January 2009.

IAS 1 (Revised), Presentation of financial statements, (effective
from 1 January 2009). The revised standard will prohibit the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, “non-owner
changes in equity”) in the statement of changes in equity, requiring “non-owner changes in equity” to be presented separately
from owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity
will be required to be shown in a performance statement, but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement
(the statement of comprehensive income) or two statements (the
income statement and the statement of comprehensive income.)
The group will apply IAS 1 (Revised) from 1 January 2009 and it
is likely that both the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income will be presented as performance statements.

IAS 39 (Amendment), Financial instruments; Recognition and
measurement (effective from 1 January 2009). This amendment
clarifies that it is possible for there to be movements into and out
of the fair value through profit or loss category where a derivative
commences or ceases to qualify as a hedging instrument in cash
flow or net investment hedge. The definition of financial asset or
financial liability through profit or loss as it relates to items that
are held for trading is also amended. This clarifies that a financial
asset or liability that is part of a portfolio of financial instruments
managed together with evidence of an actual recent pattern of
short-term profit-taking is included in such a portfolio on initial
recognition. The current guidance on designating and documenting hedges states that a hedging instrument needs to involve a
party external to the reporting entity and cites a segment as an
example of a reporting entity. This means that in order for hedge
accounting to be applied at segment level, the requirements
for hedge accounting are currently required to be met by the
applicable segment. The amendment removes the example of a
segment so that the guidance is consistent with IFRS 8 Operating
segments. The group will apply IAS 39 (Amendment) from
1 January 2009 but it is not expected to have an impact on the
group’s income statement.

IAS 41 (Amendment), Agriculture (effective from 1 January 2009).
The amendment requires the use of a market-based discount
rate where fair value calculations are based on discounted cash
flows and the removal of the prohibition of taking into account
biological transformation when calculating fair value. The group
will apply IAS 41 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009 but it is not
expected to have a material impact on the group’s consolidated
financial statements.
IFRS 2 (Amendment), Share-based payment (effective from 1 January 2009). The amended standard deals with vesting conditions
and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions are service
conditions and performance conditions only. Other features of a
share-based payment are not vesting conditions. These features
would need to be included in the grant date fair value for transactions with employees and others providing similar services; they
would not impact the number of awards expected to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether
by the entity or by other parties, should receive the same accounting treatment. The group will apply IFRS 2 (Amendment) from 1
January 2009 but it is not expected to have a material impact on
the group’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 3 (Revised), Business Combinations (effective from 1 July
2009). The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, with some significant
changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business are to
be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent
payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the
income statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related
costs should be expensed. The group will apply IFRS 3 (Revised)
prospectively to all business combinations from 1 January 2010.
IAS 36 (Amendment), Impairment of assets (effective from
1 January 2009). Where fair value less costs to sell is calculated
on the basis of discounted cash flows, disclosures equivalent to
those for value-in-use calculation should be made. The group will
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There are a number of minor amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
instruments: Disclosures, IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors, IAS 10 Events after the reporting
period, IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 34 Interim financial reporting.
These amendments are unlikely to have an impact on the group’s
accounts and have therefore not been analysed in detail.
(b) Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the group. They are de-consolidated from the date
that control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of
the group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the income statement.

notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment
indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the group.
(ii) Transactions and minority interests
The group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority
interests as transactions with parties external to the group. Disposals to minority interests results in gains and losses for the Group
that are recorded in the income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary.
(iii) Joint venture entities
The interest in a joint venture entity in which the group holds a
significant influence, is accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. Under the equity
method, the group’s share of the profits or losses of the joint
venture entity is recognised in the income statement and its share
of movements in reserves is recognised in reserves in the balance
sheet. The cumulative movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
(c) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in
providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of segments operating in
other economic environments.
(d )Biological assets
Biological assets comprise oil palm trees from initial preparation
of land and planting of seedlings through to maturity and the entire
productive life of the trees, as well as livestock and growing cane.
(i) Oil palm trees
Oil palms are revalued to fair value at each reporting date on a
discounted cash flow basis by reference to the FFB expected to be
harvested over the full remaining productive life of the trees up to
22 years. Oil palms which are not yet mature at the accounting
date, and hence are not producing FFB, are valued at cost as an
approximation of fair value.
All expenditure on the oil palms up to maturity is treated as an
addition to the oil palms. Such costs include seedling costs, holing and planting, transport and field distribution, lining and
pruning. The variation in the value of the oil palms in each accounting period, after allowing for additions to the oil palms in
the period, is charged or credited to the income statement as appropriate, with no depreciation being provided on such assets.

(ii) Livestock
Livestock is revalued to fair value at each reporting date based
on an assessment of age, average weights and market value by
the company’s external beef manager.
(iii) Growing cane
Growing cane is revalued to fair value at each reporting date
based on the estimated market value of fully grown cane adjusted
for the age and condition of the cane at the reporting date.
(e) Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation unless otherwise stated. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of items.
All costs directly relating to plantation development are capitalised until such time as the oil palms reach maturity, at which
point all further costs are expensed and depreciation commences.
Such costs includes roads, drainage, land preparation and an allocation of overheads. All costs directly relating to oil palm trees
are accounted for in accordance with note 1(d).
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
Land and capital work in progress are not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of residual values, over their estimated
lives as follows:
Leasehold land
Leasehold buildings
Plant & machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Plantation development expenditure

33 – 100 years
4 – 33 years
10 – 15 years
3 – 5 years
5 – 15 years
17 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is great than its estimated
recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are
determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within other income.
(f) Inventories
Inventories comprise palm oil products, sugar stocks, nursery and
seed stocks, consumables and spare parts. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
using the weighted average cost method.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventory of palm oil produce comprises processed and refined
palm oil products in tanks awaiting shipment at balance date and
are stated at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated selling
costs and processing costs. Such costs include direct materials
and labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads relating
to the milling and refining processes.
Sugar stocks are stated at the lower of manufactured cost and
net realisable value. The cost of cane transferred to production is
measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 41. Manufactured
cost includes all direct expenses and an appropriate proportion of
manufacturing overheads.
In respect of nursery and seed stocks, spare parts and consumables, cost includes direct materials and labour plus an appropriate
proportion of fixed overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any
further costs expected to be incurred to completion and sale.
(g) Investments
Classification
The group classifies its investments in the following categories:
financial assets at fair value through income statement, loans and
receivables, available for sale financial assets and held-to-maturity
investments. The classification depends on the purpose for which
the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates
this designation at every reporting date.
(i) Financial assets at fair value
through income statement
Financial assets at fair value through income statement are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
short term. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.
(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the group provides money, goods
or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the
receivable. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Loans
and receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the
balance sheet.
(iii) Available for sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated in this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12
months of the balance sheet date.
(iv) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets

38

with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold
to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant
amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category
would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. Heldto-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets,
expect for those with maturities less than 12 months from the
reporting date, which are classified as current assets.
Recognition and de-recognition
Purchases and sales of investments and other financial assets are
recognized on trade-date – the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through the income statement. Investments
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included in
the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.
Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at
fair value through income statement category are included in the
income statement in the period in which they arise. Changes in
the fair value of monetary and non monetary securities classified
as available for sale are recognised in equity.
Fair value
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for
unlisted securities), the group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on company-specific inputs.
Impairment
The group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator
that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for
available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised
in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed
through the income statement.

notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. In determining recoverable value, reasonable and supportable future cash
flow projections of the economic conditions that exist over the remaining life of each asset are developed. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Value in use is calculated by discounting cash flows using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Based
on these calculations and using the same primary assumptions as
detailed in note 1(d) , no impairment losses have been recognised.
(i) Borrowings and borrowings costs
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost, any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of borrowings using the effective interest
method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
Borrowing costs as expensed in the period that they are incurred.
(j) Derivative financial
instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge some
of its exposure to fluctuations in palm oil prices. In order to protect against the impact of falling prices, the Group enters into
hedging transactions.
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the
balance sheet at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at
their fair values. On the date a derivative contract is entered into,
the Group designates the contract as a hedge against specific
future sales. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss
is dependent on the nature of the item being hedged.
Derivatives that are designated against future sales qualify as cash
flow hedges and are deemed highly effective. Changes in the
fair value of these derivatives are recognised in equity. Amounts
deferred in equity are transferred to the income statement and
classified as revenue in the same periods during which the hedged
palm oil sales affect the income statement.
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting under IAS 39,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains
in equity and is recognised when the committed or forecasted sale

is ultimately recognised in the income statement. If the committed or forecast sale is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss reported in equity is immediately transferred to the
income statement.
At the inception of the transaction, the group documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives designated as hedges to specific forecast palm oil sales. The
group also documents its assessment, both at the hedge inception
and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging
purposes are disclosed in note 15. Movements on the hedging
reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 18. The full
fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current
asset or liability when the remaining hedged item is more than
12 months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
(k) Income tax
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the
current period’s taxable income based on the national income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.
Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using the tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that they can
be utilised against future taxable amounts.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax and liabilities and when
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends to either settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each
of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the
functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in US Dollars, which is New Britain Palm Oil Limited’s
presentation currency and differs from its functional currency,
the Papua New Guinea Kina (“PNG Kina”). The decision to use
US Dollars as the group’s presentation currency is considered more
beneficial for the market than using the group’s functional currency.
The balance sheets and statements of changes in equity are translated from PNG Kina to US Dollars at the closing rate existing at the
date of the balance sheet, which at 31 December 2008 is PGK1.00
= USD 0.3760 (31 December 2007: PGK 1.00 = USD 0.3580).
The income statements and statements of cash flows are translated from PNG Kina to US Dollars at the average exchange rates
prevailing during the period, which are considered to approximate the actual exchange rate at the date of each transaction.
The average exchange rate at 31 December 2008 is PGK1.00 =
USD 0.3766 (31 December 2007: PGK 1.00 = USD 0.3396).

(m) Revenue and other income
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or
receivable for the sale of the Group’s products in the ordinary
course of the group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of trade
allowances, duties and taxes paid, and after eliminating sales
within the group.
The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria for each of the groups
activities as described below.
(i) Sale of palm oil and palm based products
Sales revenue represents revenue earned from the sales of the
group’s products, net of trade allowances and duties and taxes
paid. Revenue is recognised when there has been a passing of
title and risk to the customer, and:
•

the produce is in a form suitable for delivery and sale and
no further processing is required;

•

the quantity and quality of the product can be determined
with reasonable accuracy;

•

the product has been dispatched to the customer and is no
longer under the physical control of the group (or property
in the product has earlier passed to the customer); and

•

the selling price can be determined with reasonable accuracy.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated
into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated to the functional currency at rates of exchange ruling
at balance date. Gains or losses arising from settlement of
transactions and from translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are brought to account in the income statement for the period.
(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
•

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet;

•

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average exchange rate; and

•

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed or sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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(ii) Sale of cattle and beef products
The group sells all beef locally. Sales of beef are recognised when
title and risk has passed to the customer.
(iii) Sale of sugar
Sales of sugar are recognised when title and risk has passed to the
customer and the group no longer has any physical control over
the product.
(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportionate basis using
the effective interest method.
(n) Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Where any group company purchases the company’s equity share
capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to the company’s equity holders
until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

(s) Dividend distribution

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the group’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s directors.

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand and deposits held at call or
short term maturity with banks (three months or less), net of bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
(p) Accounts receivable
Trade receivables are recognised at fair value, less provision for
impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement
within 30 to 45 days.
A provision for impairment on trade receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.
(q) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
(r) Accounts payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for
the goods and services received, whether billed by the supplier or
not. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to
60 days of recognition.

(t) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all
the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but
not the legal ownership are assumed by the group, are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Leased assets
are amortised over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the
lease term. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction
of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the
risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses
in the periods in which they are incurred.
(u) Defined contribution plan
The group operates a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into publicly or privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The group
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods. The contributions are recognised within staff costs
when they are due.
(v) Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current period.
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks
including market risk (including currency, commodity and cash
flow interest rate risk), fair value risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
capital risk. The group’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictibility of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the
group. The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
(borrowings) and net investments in foreign operations.
The group’s revenues and a significant proportion of the group’s
costs are in US dollars and therefore the group’s operations are
exposed to some foreign exchange risk. It is not the group’s policy
to hedge foreign currency risk. The group has certain investments
in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. It is not the group’s policy to hedge foreign
currency translation risk.
At 31 December 2008, if the Kina had weakened/strengthened
by 5% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant,
the profit for the period would have been USD 17.9million (31
December 2007: USD 10.2 million) higher/lower, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar denominated borrowings, trade receivables and sales. Equity
would have been USD 0.6million (31 December 2007: USD
0.9million) lower/higher, arising mainly from exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar denominated derivative financial
instruments.
(ii) Commodity risk
The group derives a significant proportion of its revenues from the
sale of palm oil products. The group uses derivative financial instruments for the purchase and sale of Malaysian/Sumatran palm

42

oil to guarantee a minimum price for the sale of its own palm oil,
for which there is no forward market, and to close out positions
previously taken out. The group does not produce Malaysian/Sumatran palm oil.
At 31 December 2007, excluding the effect of any hedging
activities, if the average prices received from the sale of palm oil
products had been 10% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the profit for the period would have been USD 32.3million (31 December 2007: USD 18.7million) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of higher/lower commodity prices.
(iii) Cash flow and interest rate risk
As the group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.
The group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash
flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the
group to fair value interest rate risk. It is not the group’s policy to
hedge cash flow and interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2008, if interest rates on US-dollar denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the profit for the period would have been
USD 0.3million (31 December 2007: USD 0.1million) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate borrowings.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables. The group has no significant concentration
of credit risk and it is not the group’s policy to hedge credit risk.
The group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products
and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure
to any one customer. No credit limits were exceeded during the
reporting periods and management does not expect any losses
from non-performance by counterparties.

notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements

2. Financial risk
management
(continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.
The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient bank balances to fund its operations and the
availability of funding through committed credit facilities.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.
Forecasted liquidity reserve as of 31 December 2008 is as follows:
				
2009
2010
				USD’000	USD’000
Opening balance for the period				

64,582

216

Operating proceeds				

305,928

288,304

Operating cash outflows				

(297,680)

(238,244)

Payments of debts				

(6,605)

(5,682)

Payments of dividends				

(40,600)

(40,600)

Utilisation of net proceeds from share issue				

(25,409)

(3,013)

Closing balance for the period				

216

981

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
		
	Less than
Between 1
Over
			
1 year and 5 years
5 years
			USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
At 31 December 2008			
Borrowings			

13,106

24,415

20,907

Trade and other payables			

29,549

-

-

At 31 December 2007			
Borrowings			

6,682

8,914

4,093

Trade and other payables			

11,273

-

-

Dividends payable			

21,479

-

-

The tables below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross
basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
			
Less than
Between 1
Over
			
1 year and 5 years
5 years
			USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
At 31 December 2008
Forward sale and purchase contracts - cash flow hedges		
Inflow			

60,775

-

-

Outflow			

36,510

-

-

At 31 December 2007			
Forward sale and purchase contracts - cash flow hedges			
Inflow			

76,813

3,780

-

Outflow			

25,975

-
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2. Financial risk
management
(continued)

(d) Capital risk management
The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “borrowings” and “trade and other payables” as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash
equivalents and bank overdrafts. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the balance sheet
plus net debt.
The gearing ratios at each balance date were as follows:
				
2008
2007
				USD’000	USD’000
Total borrowings				

87,976

30,961

Less: cash and cash equivalents				

(64,582)

(135,600)

Net debt				

23,394

(104,639)

Total equity				

395,363

370,474

Total capital				

418,757

265,835

Gearing ratio				

6%

-39%

The higher gearing ratio in 2008 resulted primarily from additional debt arising from the acquisition of
Ramu Agri-Industries Limited and to fund the operations of the Solomon Islands subsidiary.
(e) Fair value estimation
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined by the group based on dealer quotes and
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes are used
for long-term debt.
The fair value contract prices by settlement date used by the group to fair value its hedges of crude
palm oil (CPO) and refined bleached deodorised palm olein (RBDPO) were as follows:
		
Between
		1 to 3 months
		 $US/tonne

Between
4 to 6 months
$US/tonne

Between
7 to 12 months
$US/tonne

Over
12 months
$US/tonne

At 31 December 2008				
CPO		
545
545

545

545

PKO		

545

-

-

-

RBDPO		

635

635

-

-

At 31 December 2007				
CPO		
1,020
1,023

993

1,000

RBDPO		

930

-

930

930

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of trade receivables and payables.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards require
management to make estimates and assumptions concering the
future that affect the amounts reported in the financial information and accompanying notes. Managements’ estimates and
judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates, by definition, rarely equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
outlined below:
(a) Recoverability of non-current assets
As set out in note 1 (h) certain assumptions are required to be
made in order to assess the recoverability of non-current assets.
Key assumptions include the future price of crude palm oil, future
cash flows and an estimated discount rate. A 10% decrease to
the long-term crude palm oil price used of USD 600/tonne or an
increase of 2% in the discount rate to 17.5% will have an adverse
impact on the carrying value of non-current assets. In addition,
cash flows are projected over a number of years and based on
estimated production. Estimates of production in themselves are
dependent on various assumptions, in addition to those described
above. Changes in these estimates could materially impact on estimated production, and could therefore affect estimates of future
cash flows used in the assessment of recoverable amount.
(b) Fair value of biological assets
The nature of the Group’s biological assets and the basis of determination of their fair value is explained under Note 1 (d).
(i) Oil palm trees
Oil palms do not include the land upon which the trees are
planted or the property, plant and equipment used in the upkeep
of the planted areas and harvesting of crops. The biological process commences with the initial preparation of land and planting
of seedlings and ceases with the delivery of crop in the form of
fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”) to the manufacturing process in which
crude palm oil and palm kernel oil are extracted from the FFB.
Oil palms are revalued to fair value at each reporting date on a
discounted cash flow basis by reference to the FFB expected to
be harvested over the full remaining productive life of the trees
up to 22 years, applying an estimated produce value for transfer
to the manufacturing process and allowing for upkeep, harvesting
costs and an appropriate allocation of overheads. The estimated
produce value is derived from a long term forecast of crude palm
oil prices to determine the present value of expected future cash
flows over the next 22 years. The fair value measurement of oil
palm trees at the reporting date is based on an estimated FFB crop
harvest in 2009 of 883,110 tonnes.

The variation in the value of the oil palms in each accounting period, after allowing for additions to the oil palms in the period, is
charged or credited to the income statement as appropriate, with
no depreciation being provided on such assets.
The key assumptions used in the valuation are as follows:
As at

Long term 	Long term 	Long term
CPO price*
PKO price* discount rate**

	USD/tonne	USD/tonne

%

31 Dec 2008

$600

$700

15.9%

31 Dec 2007

$525

$625

18.4%

* The prices assumed in the valuation are based on a combination of the World
Bank’s long term forecasts for Crude Palm Oil (CPO) and Palm Kernel Oil (PKO) and
management’s best estimate at each reporting date.
** The discount rate has been determined using a Capital Asset Pricing Model to
calculate a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.

A 10% increase or decrease to the long-term crude palm oil price
used of USD 600/tonne would result in an increase/decrease to
the fair value of biological assets by USD 32.5million as at 31
December 2008. A 2% increase in the discount rate will result in
a decrease to the fair value of biological assets by USD 5.4million. In addition, cash flows are projected over a number of years
and based on estimated production. Estimates of production in
themselves are dependent on various assumptions, in addition to
those described above. Changes in these estimates could materially impact on estimated production, and could therefore affect
estimates of future cash flows used in the assessment of fair value.
(ii) Growing cane
The determination of fair value for the group’s growing cane
requires estimates to be made of the anticipated cane harvest, its
age and condition at the balance sheet date, the sucrose content
to be extracted and sugar prices. These estimates are based on
management’s historical records and current planting statistics
and production forecasts. Fair value of harvested cane is based on
the accepted industry benchmark for allocating the fair value of
sugar production between the value attributable to the cane grower and the value attributable to the miller. This has been adjusted
to reflect the fact that the group mainly distributes and markets
direct consumption sugar to the wholesale and retail Papua New
Guinea market as opposed to predominantly producing raw sugar
for export. The fair value of the growing cane at any point in time
is based on the estimated fair value of the cane to be harvested
less further costs to be incurred in growing and harvesting the
cane up to the point of harvest, discounted to present value.
The fair value measurement of growing cane at the reporting date
is based on an estimate estate crop of 418,301 tonnes of cane of
which 418,224 tonnes will be harvested in 2009. Discount rates
used are pre-tax, and increase from 25%-60% with the period to
harvesting, reflecting the specific risks associated with the anticipated cash flow. Were the cane harvest to differ by 10% from the
amount estimated, the impact on the fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2008 would be an increase of USD 1.5m or a
decrease of USD 1.0m.

45

notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements

3. CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS
(continued)

(c) Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
As highlighted in Note 25, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Ramu Agri-Industries Limited in September 2008. The determination of the fair value of the net assets and liabilities acquired was
completed on a provisional basis for the purposes of the year ending 31 December 2008. These fair values will be finalised within 12 months of the date of acquisition, the outcome of which could materially
change the provisional fair values used.
As noted above, judgments are made in designing and applying the group’s accounting policies, including the above policies. Other than these items and the disclosures made elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, there are no other items of critical judgment that warrant separate disclosure.

4. REVENUE

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Revenue				
Sales revenue		

379,165

233,964

330,857

219,449

Realisation of hedging instruments		

(26,946)

(9,010)

(26,946)

(9,010)

352,219

224,954

303,911

210,439

-

2,355

-

2,353

Other income

1,399

51

674

542

		

1,399

2,406

674

2,895

Other income				
Net foreign exchange gain		

5. OPERATING PROFIT

Consolidated	Holding Company
			
2008
2007
2008
2007
			USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Operating profit has been determined after charging:
Personnel costs			

25,051

17,977

18,587

16,014

Net foreign exchange loss		

15,285

-

15,522

-

Depreciation is included in:				
Cost of sales			

12,954

9,260

10,001

8,033

Administration expenses		

7,189

5,390

6,407

4,895

			

20,143

14,650

16,408

12,928

- Audit			

196

119

129

119

- Taxation services		

111

76

118

76

- Other services		

51

867

51

867

Gain on disposal of non current assets		

-

(171)

-

(171)

Donations			

288

450

269

449

Auditors remuneration
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6. INCOME TAX

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
(a) Income Tax Expense
Current tax		

29,328

21,256

29,328

21,256

Deferred tax		

(22,485)

13,474

(18,833)

14,294

Over provision in prior years		

(238)

(119)

(238)

(119)

		

6,605

34,611

10,257

35,431

The income tax expense has been calculated as follows:				
Profit for the year		

28,805

121,584

23,014

119,829

Income tax at 30%		

8,642

36,475

6,904

35,949

3,591

(399)

Tax effect of permanent differences:				
Non-deductible (assessable) items		

(1,799)

(1,746)

Over provision in prior years		

(238)

(119)

(238)

(119)

Income tax expense		

6,605

34,611

10,257

35,431

Balance brought forward		

(67,398)

(55,605)

(65,753)

(53,253)

Income statement charge (credit)		

22,485

(13,474)

18,833

(14,294)

Exchange differences		

(3,733)

(5,386)

(3,377)

(4,436)

Acquisition of subsidiary		

(24,142)

-

-

-

Tax charged (credited) to equity		

(13,295)

7,067

(13,295)

6,230

Balance carried forward		

(86,084)

(67,398)

(63,592)

(65,753)

(b) Deferred Income Tax Liabilities	

This balance comprises the tax effect of:				
Accruals		

4

80

4

80

Hedge liability (asset)		

(15,905)

27,612

(15,905)

27,612

Provisions		

2,458

435

457

435

Consumables		

(27,518)

(9,665)

(16,422)

(9,665)

Stock valuation differentials		

(11,722)

(420)

(772)

(420)

Prepayments		

(1,110)

(254)

(874)

(254)

Unrealised foreign exchange gains		

76

57

76

57

Income tax losses		

10,823

-

-

-

Biological assets		

(73,863)

(134,143)

(59,411)

(127,230)

Excess tax depreciation		

(170,189)

(108,363)

(119,126)

(109,790)

		

(286,947)

(224,661)

(211,973)

(219,175)

Tax effect at 30%		

(86,084)

(67,398)

(63,592)

(65,753)

Deferred tax asset to be recovered
after more than 12 months		

3,247

676

-

676

Deferred tax asset to be recovered
within 12 months		

761

7,608

161

7,608

		

4,008

8,284

161

8,284

Deferred tax liability to be recovered
after more than 12 months		

(73,216)

(72,580)

(53,561)

(71,106)

Deferred tax liability to be recovered
within 12 months		

(16,877)

(3,102)

(10,192)

(3,102)

		

(90,092)

(75,681)

(63,753)

(74,208)

Deferred tax liabilities (net)		

(86,084)

(67,398)

(63,592)

(65,924)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for carried forward tax losses to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The group has recognised deferred
income tax asstes of USD 3.3m in respect of losses amounting to USD 10.8m (2007: nil) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income.
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

Plantation	Land and
Plant and	Capital
Total
Development
Buildings	Equipment
WIP
	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Consolidated
As at 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount

63,738

56,169

41,625

20,645

182,177

Additions
Acquisition of subsidiary
Disposals
Transfers
Exchange differences
Depreciation
Closing net book amount

13,456
12,147
2,517
(4,192)
87,666

63,286
(851)
6,749
1,242
(2,457)
124,138

407
17,591
(25)
7,967
401
(13,494)
54,472

51,762
785
(14,716)
2,065
60,541

65,625
93,809
(876)
6,225
(20,143)
326,817

At cost
At valuation
Accumulated depreciation

114,650
(26,984)
87,666

123,924
22,007
(21,793)
124,138

127,057
(72,585)
54,472

60,541
60,541

426,172
22,007
(121,362)
326,817

As at 31 December 2007					
Opening net book amount
53,271
46,125
37,242
13,717
Additions
9,375
168
24,952
Disposals
(165)
(457)
Transfers
8,337
11,020
(19,357)
Exchange differences
4,331
3,801
3,133
1,333
(3,239)
(1,930)
(9,481)
Depreciation
Closing net book amount
63,738
56,169
41,625
20,645

150,355
34,495
(622)
12,598
(14,649)
182,177

At cost
Accumulated depreciation

20,645
20,645

283,396
(101,219)
182,177

Company
As at 31 December 2008					
Opening net book amount
52,375
49,085
34,464
18,970
Additions
9,028
44,210
Disposals
Transfers
6,648
6,317
(12,965)
Exchange differences
2,626
2,462
1,738
904
Depreciation
(3,375)
(1,965)
(11,068)
Closing net book amount
60,654
56,230
31,451
51,119

154,894
53,238
7,730
(16,408)
199,454

At cost
Accumulated depreciation

86,530
(22,792)
63,738

85,317
(24,663)
60,654

75,505
(19,336)
56,169

77,185
(20,955)
56,230

100,716
(59,091)
41,625

100,701
(69,250)
31,451

51,119
51,119

As at 31 December 2007					
Opening net book amount
43,786
42,554
31,831
9,638
Additions
7,453
168
22,003
Disposals
(53)
(52)
Transfers
4,941
8,896
(13,837)
Exchange differences
3,559
3,366
2,403
1,166
Depreciation
(1,723)
(8,782)
(2,423)
52,375
Closing net book amount
49,085
34,464
18,970
					
At cost
73,663
68,075
92,646
18,970
Accumulated depreciation
(21,288)
(18,990)
(58,182)
52,375
49,085
34,464
18,970
Refer to note 14 for information on the non current assets pledged as security by the group.

48

314,322
(114,868)
199,454
127,809
29,624
(105)
10,494
(12,928)
154,894
253,354
(98,460)
154,894
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8. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Oil palm trees				
Balance at the beginning of the year
134,143
84,854

127,230

75,745

Increases due to expenditure to planted areas

697

1,010

529

1,010

Gain (loss)arising from changes in fair value		

(22,971)

104,188

(23,434)

101,355

Decreases due to harvest		

(56,321)

(64,486)

(50,030)

(58,921)

Increases resulting from acquisition of subsidiary

3,767

-

-

-

Exchange differences		

4,913

8,577

5,116

8,041

Balance at the end of the year		

64,228

134,143

59,411

127,230

138

153

138

153

Increases due to expenditure on livestock

1,125

-

888

-

Gain (loss)arising from changes in fair value

2,304

834

1,042

834

Decreases due to sales		

(1,439)

(834)

(1,042)

(834)

Increases resulting from acquisition of subsidiary

3,919

-

-

-

Exchange differences		

(257)

(15)

(6)

(15)

Balance at the end of the year		

5,790

138

1,020

138

Growing cane				
Balance at the beginning of the year		

-

-

-

-

Increases due to expenditure on growing cane

-

-

-

-

Livestock				
Balance at the beginning of the year

Gain (loss)arising from changes in fair value		

951

-

-

-

Decreases due to harvest		

-

-

-

-

7,069

-

-

-

Exchange differences		

-

-

-

-

Balance at the end of the year		

8,020

-

-

-

134,281

85,007

127,368

75,898

Increases due to expenditure		

1,822

1,010

1,417

1,010

Gain (loss)arising from changes in fair value

(19,716)

105,022

(22,392)

102,189

Decreases due to harvest and sales		

(57,760)

(65,320)

(51,072)

(59,755)

Increases resulting from acquisition of subsidiary

14,756

-

-

-

Exchange differences		

4,658

8,562

5,110

8,026

Balance at the end of the year		

78,038

134,281

60,431

127,368

Increases resulting from acquisition of subsidiary

Total				
Balance at the beginning of the year

Classifed as:				
Current		

10,306

138

1,020

138

Non Current		

67,732

134,143

59,411

127,230

		

78,038

134,281

60,431

127,368

Net (loss) gain arising from changes
in fair value of biological assets		

(77,476)

39,702

(73,464)

42,434
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9. INVESTMENTS
in associates

				
2008
2007
				USD'000	USD'000
Consolidated		
Investment in joint venture (note 22)		

		

4,779

3,515

				

4,779

3,515

			

76,884

12,123

				

76,884

12,123

Holding Company		
Investment in subsidiaries and associates

Subsidiaries
The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008:

10. CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

			
Name of Subsidiary		 Shareholding

Country of
Incorporation

Reporting
Date

Guadalcanal Plains Palm Oil Limited		

80%

Solomon Islands

31 December

Dami Australia Pty Limited		

100%

Australia

31 December

New Britain Nominees Limited		

100%

PNG

31 December

New Britain Plantation Services Pte Limited		

100%

Singapore

31 December

New Britain Oils Limited		

100%	United Kingdom

31 December

Ramu Agri-Industries Limited		

100%

31 December

PNG

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Cash and bank balances		

5,808

17,511

2,011

14,477

Short term deposits		

58,774

118,089

52,873

118,089

		

64,582

135,600

54,884

132,566

				
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the following balances comprise cash and cash
equivalents at the end of the period:				
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Cash and bank balances		

5,808

17,511

2,011

14,477

Short term deposits		

58,774

118,089

52,873

118,089

Bank overdraft (note 14)		

(9,719)

(4,319)

(3,219)

(4,319)

		

54,863

131,281

51,664

128,247
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11. TRADE AND OTHER
		
RECEIVABLES

Consolidated	Holding Company
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Trade receivables

56,207

48,370

46,498

44,199

Provision for impaired receivables		

(457)

(435)

(457)

(435)

		

55,750

47,935

46,040

43,764

Other receivables		

4,763

3,351

2,678

3,234

Prepayments		

1,999

4,023

1,477

3,957

		

62,512

55,309

50,196

50,955

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of USD 0.4 million (2007: USD 0.4 million) relating wholly
to seed sales, were considered impaired and were provided by management.
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
Opening balance		

435

405

435

405

Provision for receivables impaired		

-

-

-

-

Exchange differences		

22

30

22

30

Unused amount reversed		

-

-

-

-

		

457

435

457

435

The creating and releasing of provision for impaired receivebles in included in administration costs in
the income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there
is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

12. INVENTORIES

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Palm oil products		

5,222

7,096

3,814

6,476

Sugar stocks		

11,481

-

-

-

Nursery and seed stocks		

3,032

1,394

2,472

584

Consumables and spare parts		

31,546

9,686

15,171

9,342

		

51,280

18,176

21,457

16,402
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Holding Company
2008
2007
				USD'000	USD'000

13. OWING (TO)/FROM
GROUP COMPANIES				
Guadalcanal Plains Palm Oil Limited

			

16,248

17,613

Dami Australia Pty Limited				

(658)

258

New Britain Nominees Limited				

263

225

New Britain Plantation Services Pte Limited 			

1,258

(184)

New Britain Oils Limited				

6,412

-

Ramu Agri-Industries Limited				

1,874

-

				

25,397

17,912

All balances owing to or from subsidiary companies have been eliminated on consolidation.

14. BORROWINGS

Consolidated	Holding Company
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Non-Current
Secured				
Bank borrowings		

45,322

14,363

11,766

14,363

Bank overdraft		

9,719

4,319

3,220

4,319

Bank borrowings		

3,386

1,007

2,050

1,007

		

13,105

5,326

5,270

5,326

Total borrowings		

58,427

19,689

17,036

19,689

Current				
Secured				

The following securities are provided against the above bank overdraft and bank borrowings:
• Registered equitable mortgage over the assets and undertakings of the company;
• Registered mortgage leasehold over all state leases comprising all available land and buildings
owned by the company and its wholly owned subsidiaries; and
• Cross Guarantee between the company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
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14. BORROWINGS
(continued)

The exposure of the group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates
as at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
6 months or less		

6,553

2,625

2,635

2,625

6-12 months		

6,553

4,057

2,635

4,057

1-5 years		

24,415

8,914

5,450

8,914

Over 5 years		

20,907

4,093

6,315

4,093

		

58,428

19,689

17,036

19,689

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Bank overdrafts		

5.79%

7.23%

4.45%

7.23%

Bank borrowings		

5.95%

7.00%

4.83%

7.00%

The fair value of borrowings equals their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not
considered significant.
The carrying amounts of the group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
United States Dollar		

12,934

13,019

12,934

13,019

Papua New Guinea Kina		

45,493

6,670

4,101

6,670

		

58,428

19,689

17,036

19,689
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15. DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Current assets
- Forward contracts		

15,905

-

15,905

-

Current liabilities
- Forward contracts		

-

24,786

-

24,786

Non Current liabilities
- Forward contracts		

-

2,220

-

2,220

The Group has entered into a number of hedge contracts in relation to future sales of palm oil. The
purpose of these transactions is to protect the level of income in future years. It is not Group policy
to engage in speculative hedging activities.

The outstanding hedge contracts at balance date were as follows:

		

Tonnes
As at 31 December
2008
2007

Average price USD /tonne
As at 31 December
2008
2007

CPO (sell)		

46,750

96,000

948

710

CPO (buy)		

27,250

25,750

837

900

PKO (sell)		

2,500

-

1,090

-

PKO (buy)		

2,000

-

533

-

RDBOL (sell)		

13,500

15,000

1,017

829

RDBOL (buy)		

(17,500)

3,000

722

933

Sell contracts represent a fixed and guaranteed amount of revenue to the group whilst the buy contracts
represent the close out of sell positions previously taken, given there is no forward market for the group’s
own palm oil. The minimum total revenue generated from these programmes at 31 December 2008 will
be USD 24.3 million.
At 31 December 2008, the estimated fair value of the total hedge programme was USD 15.9 million in-themoney (31 December 2007: USD 27.0 million out-of-the-money).
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15. DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

At the fair value contract price (note 2(e) plus 10 per cent, the estimated fair value of the total hedge
programme at 31 December 2008 would be approximately USD 15.1 million in-the money. Conversely at the fair value contract price less 10 per cent the estimated fair value would be USD 16.7 million
in-the-money. The fair value contract price for forward sale and purchase contracts is estimated based
on quotes from the market makers of these instruments and represents the estimated amounts that the
group would expect to receive or pay to terminate the agreements at the reporting date.
As all hedge transactions are deemed highly effective, all gains and losses relating to their remeasurement to fair value are recognised in the hedge reserve within equity and subsequently brought to
account in the income statement in the same period as the physical sales transaction occurs to which
the hedges relate.

The estimated net amount of gains (losses) contained in the hedge reserve which are expected to be
reclassified to earnings within the next 12 months were as follows:
Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Forward contract		

15,906

(24,786)

15,906

(24,786)

Deferred taxation		

(4,772)

7,436

(4,772)

7,436

		

11,134

(17,350)

11,134

(17,350)

The estimated net amount of gains/(losses) contained in the hedge reserve which are expected to be
reclassified to earnings beyond 12 months were as follows:

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Forward contracts			
Deferred taxation
		

-

(2,220)		

(2,220)

666 		

666

(1,554)

-

(1,554)
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Consolidated	Holding Company
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000

16. TRADE AND OTHER
		
PAYABLES

17. ISSUED CAPITAL

Trade payables		

10,429

4,994

3,944

4,017

Accruals		

19,119

6,279

8,276

6,228

		

29,548

11,273

12,220

10,245

Dividends payable		

-

21,479

-

21,479

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares				
Opening balance		

124,879

9,440

125,012

9,615

Issued during the year		

-

115,397

-

115,397

Shares issued for land rights		

-

42

-

-

Closing balance		

124,879

124,879

125,012

125,012

Number of shares
'000
'000

'000

				

							
		
'000
(b) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares		

145,000

120,000

145,000

120,000

Issued during the year		

-

25,000

-

25,000

Treasury shares		

(201)

(201)

-

-

		

144,799

144,799

145,000

145,000

The company’s securities consist of ordinary shares which have equal participation and voting rights.
Treasury shares are held by New Britain Nominees Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the company.
These shares confer no voting rights, no rights to participation in dividends, are not transferable and
are redeemable at the option of the company. The purpose of these shares is to provide an opportunity
for employees, smallholders and landowners to acquire shares in the company so that they will have a
direct interest and benefit in the future growth and prosperity of the company.
At 31 December 2008, New Britain Nominees Limited held 200,799 shares in the Company (31
December 2007: 200,799). The acquisition of these shares has been funded by an interest free loan
to New Britain Nominees Limited by the company.
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18. OTHER RESERVES

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD'000	USD'000	USD'000	USD'000
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance brought forward		

29,513

10,877

28,453

10,852

Currency translation differences
arising during the year		

13,103

18,636

18,785

17,601

Balance carried forward		

42,616

29,513

47,238

28,453

Hedge reserve				
Balance brought forward		
(18,934)
(3,750)

(18,934)

(3,750)

Fair value gains (losses) in the year		

16,673

(29,203)

16,673

(29,203)

Deferred tax on fair value gains		

(5,002)

8,761

(5,002)

8,761

Transfers to sales		

26,946

9,010

26,946

9,010

Deferred tax on transfers to sales		

(8,084)

(2,703)

(8,084)

(2,703)

Exchange differences		

(954)

(1,049)

(954)

(1,049)

Movement in the year		

29,579

(15,184)

29,579

(15,184)

Balance carried forward		

10,645

(18,934)

10,645

(18,934)

Total reserves		

53,261

10,579

57,883

9,519

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the consolidated financial statements of foreign operations and from functional currency to presentation currency.
Hedge reserve – cash flow hedges
The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash
flow hedging instruments where the hedged transactions have not yet occurred.

19. DIVIDENDS

Consolidated
				
2008
2007
				USD'000	USD'000
Dividends declared and paid				

39,993

8,028

Dividends declared not paid at year end				

-

21,479

				

39,993

29,507

Number of shares ('000) (note 17)				

144,799

144,799

Dividend per share				

0.280

0.200
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20. RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Related parties comprise New Britain Palm Oil Limited’s shareholders, associated companies, other entities in which the shareholders or the group have the ability to control or exercise significant influence over
their financial and operating decisions and key management personnel. The group’s immediate holding
company is Kulim (Malaysia) Berhad, a company incorporated in Malaysia. The ultimate holding company is Johor Corporation (Malaysia).
During the year, the group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties on
normal commercial terms and conditions agreed between the related parties:
Payments/commissions to Kulim (Malaysia) Berhad for various agricultural consultancy services
amounted to USD 284,304 (31 December 2007: USD 340,330).
Payments/commissions to Pacific Rim Plantation Services Pte Limited (“Pacrim”), the group’s sales and
marketing agent for CPO, PKO and refined products amounted to USD 2,206,727 (31 December 2007:
USD 2,903,014). Costs for services totalling USD 191,718 (2007: nil) were paid to Pacrim which have
been capitalised in work in progress during the year.
The total payments made to the defined contribution plans on behalf employees amounted to USD
2,674,149 (31 December 2007: USD 862,969).

Key management personnel compensation
Key management includes directors and general managers. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown below:

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Wages and salaries		

2,311

1,438

2,311

1,438

Other short-term benefits		

525

494

525

494

Closing balance		

2,836

1,932

2,836

1,932

Other short term benefits comprise travel, medical and educational allowances.
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21. COMMITMENTS

a) Capital commitments
The group has commitments for future capital expenditure amounting to USD 34.5 million at
31 December 2008 (31 December 2007: USD 8.4 million).

(b) Operating lease commitments

Consolidated	Holding Company
		
2008
2007
2008
2007
		USD’000	USD’000	USD’000	USD’000
Not later than one year		

570

234

265

234

2,089

1,170

1,479

1,170

More than five years		

13,710

12,951

13,710

12,951

		

16,370

14,355

15,454

14,355

Later than one year but not more than five years

Future minimum lease payments relate to non-cancellable operating lease agreements in respect of
mini-estate leases of land, on a renewable basis, for terms of 20 or 40 years and State owned leases,
on a renewable basis, for terms of 99 years.
During the year, the group entered into a non-cancellable operating lease in the UK at an annual rental
of USD 0.3m, which is due to commence in March 2009.
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22. INTERESTS IN
JOINT VENTURE
ENTITY

PT Damitama mas Sejahtera
The group has a 50 percent interest in PT Damitama mas Sejahtera, a company established in Indonesia
to produce seeds for sale to third parties through its 100 percent owned subsidiary Dami Australia Pty
Limited. The group has contributed seed material as its contribution to the joint venture and does not
have further financial commitments. All other development costs have been met by the other joint venture participant. The joint venture commenced commercial seed production in 2003. The group’s share
of the operating result of the joint venture has been recognised in the income statement using the equity
method of accounting and its share of movement in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
The group’s share of net assets of PT Damitama mas Sejahtera is represented by:
Consolidated
				
2008
2007
				USD'000	USD'000
Revenues				

5,482

3,899

Other income				

226

357

Expenses				

(2,203)

(1,065)

				

3,505

3,191

Current assets				

4,399

3,652

Non curret assets				

610

796

Total assets				

5,008

4,448

Current liabilities				

921

859

Non current liabilities				

60

74

Total liabilities				

981

933

Net assets				

4,027

3,515

Plantation Contracting Services Limited
In 2008, the group established a 50 percent interest in Plantation Contracting Services Limited, a company incorporated in Papua New Guinea to provide contractual earthworks and roadworks projects for
the expansion of the group’s plantations. The group has contributed $US0.7m as its contribution to the
joint venture and does not further financial commitments. The joint venture did not trade in 2008.
The group’s share of the net assets of Plantation Contracting Services Limited is represented by:
Current assets				

597

-

Non curret assets				

3,089

-

Total assets				

3,686

-

Current liabilities				

230

-

Non current liabilities				

2,704

-

Total liabilities				

2,934

-

Net assets				

752

-

A reconciliation of the movement in the group’s interests in joint venture entities is presented below.
Balance at 1 January				

3,515

1,987

Share of profit				

3,505

3,191

Joint venture established during the year				

752

-

Dividends				

(1,302)

(926)

Exchange differences recognised in equity				

(1,691)

(737)

Balance at 31 December				

4,779

3,515

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the group’s investments in the joint ventures and there
are no contingent liabilities within the ventures themselves.
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23. EARNINGS
PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by the company and held as treasury shares (note 17).

Consolidated
				
2008
2007
				USD’000	USD’000
Net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders used in basic and diluted EPS 				

21,245

86,940

Net (gain) loss arising from changes
in fair value of biological assets attributable
to ordinary shareholders, net of tax (*)				

53,590

(28,173)

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
before changes in fair value of biological asset			

74,835

58,767

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(‘000) used in basic and diluted EPS				

144,799

144,799

Basic EPS (USD/share)				

0.147

0.600

Basic EPS before changes in fair value
of biological assets (USD/share)				

0.517

0.406

* The net (gain) loss arising from changes in fair value of biological assets attributable to ordinary shareholders, net of tax
is reconciled to the income statement as follows:

Net (gain) loss arising from changes
in fair value of biological assets				

77,476

(39,702)

Income tax expense (credit)				

(23,243)

11,912

				

54,233

(27,791)

Ordinary shareholders				

53,590

(28,173)

Minority interest				

643

382

				

54,233

(27,791)

Attributable to:		
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24. SEGMENT
INFORMATION

a) Primary reporting format- business segments
The group’s primary business segment is the growing, harvesting and processing of palm oil.
Other business activities comprising mainly sales of seeds and cattle operations are not significant
and separate disclosure of segment information is not considered beneficial.
The acquisition of Ramu Agri-Industries Limited expands the group’s other business activities to
also include sugar production and distribution. As the acquisition was effective from 30 September
2008, separate disclosure of segment information is not considered beneficial and is immaterial to
the group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2008.
b) Secondary reporting format- business segments
The group primary operates in Papua New Guinea, but also has operations in the Solomon Islands,
Australia, Indonesia, United Kingdom and Singapore. Geographical segment information is shown below:

Consolidated
				
2008
2007
				USD'000	USD'000
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Sales revenue		
Papua New Guinea				

323,573

209,130

Solomon Islands				

28,646

15,824

				

352,219

224,954

Total assets		
Papua New Guinea				

543,028

482,231

Solomon Islands				

40,954

40,271

United Kingdom				

6,383

-

Singapore				

1,930

-

Indonesia				

4,027

3,515

Australia				

3,288

3,041

				

599,609

529,058

Acquisitions of segment assets		
Papua New Guinea				

56,467

30,633

Solomon Islands				

7,050

4,502

United Kingdom				

1,807

-

Singapore				

300

-

				

65,625

35,135
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25. BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS

In September 2008, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Ramu Agri-Industries Limited.
The acquired business contributed revenues of USD 19.7m and net losses of USD 2.4m from 1 October
2008 to 31 December 2008. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2008, group revenue would
have been USD 383.9m and profit would have been USD 23.4m. These amounts have been calculated
using the group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the subsidiary and assuming the
fair value adjustments had applied from 1 January 2008.
Details of the provisional fair value of assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:

					USD’000
Purchase consideration		
- Cash paid					

61,629

- Direct costs relating to the acquisition					

1,769

Total purchase consideration					

63,398

				Carrying amount Fair value
				USD’000	USD’000
Cash and cash equivalents				

7

7

Trade and other receivables				

9,699

7,246

Inventories				

21,700

27,227

Biological assets				

13,130

14,756

Property, plant & equipment				

71,801

93,809

Investments				

479

-

Borrowings				

(38,548)

(38,548)

Trade and other payables				

(16,817)

(16,957)

Deferred tax liabilities				

(16,756)

(24,142)

				

44,695

63,398

Total purchase consideration					

63,398

Purchase consideration settled in cash					

63,398

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary					

(7)

Cash outflow on acquisition					

63,391

The fair values are provisional as the acquisition was completed with effect from 30 September 2008.
Provisional fair values may be used for a period of 12 months from acquisition.
During the 12 month period from acquisition date an independent valuer will complete a detailed
valuation of the land acquired to determine the final fair value of these assets. Utilising the independent
valuers report the company will determine the final allocation of the excess across property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, deferred tax assets and liabilities, the outcome of which could materially
change the provisional fair values identified above.
There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 December 2007.
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26. CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2008, the group had contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising in the
ordinary course of business pertaining to land disputes, employee issues and GST disputes. The
group has disclaimed liability in all cases and is vigorously defending these actions. It is not practical to estimate the potential effect of these claims but legal advice indicates that any liability that
may arise in the unlikely event these claims are successful will not be significant.

27. EVENTS AFTER
THE BALANCE
SHEET DATE

On 26 February 2009, a gross final dividend for 2008 of US 14 cents per share was declared for
payment on 29 May 2009.
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No other events have occurred after the balance sheet date that would require an adjustment to
or a disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

